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Cabbeen is one of the leading  
Chinese designer brands.
The Group designs and sells apparels for men and women. Its main brands 

include Cabbeen and 2AM. Its retail network covers 29 provinces,  

autonomous regions, municipalities and special administrative regions and  

several online platforms in the People’s Republic of China.

卡賓是中國領先的設計師品牌之一。
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Financial highlights 財務摘要
Revenue 1,035,008 1,188,648
Gross profit 462,314 511,630
Profit from operation 89,583 88,693
Profit for the year 28,893 27,403
EBITDA(1) EBITDA(1) 148,507 151,286

Earnings per share  
(RMB cents)

 

– Basic – 4.10 3.11
– Diluted – 4.10 3.11

Dividend per share (HK cents)
– Interim dividend – 0.93 0.70
– Final dividend – 0.86 0.70
– Total dividend – 1.79 1.40

Profitability ratios 盈利比率
Gross profit margin 44.7% 43.0%
Operating margin 8.7% 7.5%
Net profit margin 2.8% 2.3%
Return on total assets(2) (2) 1.4% 1.2%
Return on equity(3) (3) 2.1% 2.1%

Liquidity ratios 流動資金比率
Average inventory turnover 

days(4)

(4)

185 182
Average trade and bills 

receivables turnover days(5)

 
(5) 218 186

Average trade and bills  
payables turnover days(6)

 
(6) 157 157

Capital ratio 資金比率
Interest coverage ratio(7) (7) 6.1 4.5
Net debt to equity ratio(8) (8) -1.0% 10.2%
Gearing ratio(9) (9) 16.8% 25.2%

  7  
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(1) EBITDA is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization.

(2) Return on total assets equals net profit for the year divided by the 

closing balance of total assets.

(3) Return on equity equals net profit for the year divided by the 

closing balance of total shareholders’ equity.

(4) Average inventory turnover days is equal to the average of the 

beginning and closing inventory balance divided by cost of sales 

and multiplied by the number of days in the year.

(5) Average trade and bills receivables turnover days is equal to the 

average of the beginning and closing trade and bills receivables 

balance divided by revenue (including value-added tax) and 

multiplied by the number of days in the year.

(6) Average trade and bills payables turnover days is equal to the 

average of the beginning and closing trade and bills payables 

balance divided by costs of sales and multiplied by the number 

of days in the year.

(7) Interest coverage ratio equals profit before interest and tax for the 

year divided by interest expenses of the same year.

(8) Net debt to equity ratio equals net debt divided by total equity 

as of the end of the year. Net debt includes all borrowings net of 

cash and cash equivalents.

(9) Gearing ratio equals total debts divided by total equity.

(1) EBITDA

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors 
(the “Director(s)”) of Cabbeen Fashion Limited (the 
“Company”), I am pleased to present the annual results 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group” or “Cabbeen”) for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

Due to factors such as weak market expectations, 
insufficient endogenous consumer demand, f ierce 
competition among apparel brands and rising costs, the 
Chinese apparel industry faced pressures and challenges 
in 2024, with a noticeable slowdown in market growth 
during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,035.0 million, 
representing a decrease of 12.9% as compared with the 
corresponding period of the last year. The Group's net 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted 
to RMB28.9 million, representing a increase of 5.4% as 
compared with the corresponding period of the last year.

"Consistently crafting every piece of clothing with 
excellence” has always been Cabbeen’s business 
philosophy. Moving forward, the Group will continue to 
adhere to the brand concept of Chinese apparel designer, 
closely monitoring evolving consumer trends, swiftly 
adapting to product demands, and consistently enhancing 
clothing quality and craftsmanship to provide customers 
with high-quality, cost-effective, and uniquely designed 
apparel. Moreover, the Group will strive to increase 
operational efficiency and strengthen its quick response 
and reorder operations to improve the product turnover 
days.

本公司
董事 董事會

本集團 卡賓

1,035.0
12.9%

28.9
5.4%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In the future, the Group will continue to pursuing scalable 
growth, actively expanding its physical retail store network 
and enhancing the image and service quality of physical 
stores to provide consumers with an exceptional shopping 
experience. Meanwhile, the Group will deepen the 
development of its online sales platform, strengthen the 
synergistic integration of online and offline channels, and 
promote omni-channel operations to unleash the Group’s 
brands’ potential and enhance customers’ stickiness to 
the brand.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express 
our sincere gratitude to the shareholders, customers 
and business partners for their trust and support to the 
Company, and extend our heartfelt thanks to all the 
employees for their dedicated efforts.

Dr. Ziming Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2025

楊紫明博士
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview
Cabbeen is a Chinese designer brand offering apparel 
and accessories for men and women. The Group’s main 
brands include Cabbeen and 2AM. The Group derives its 
revenue mainly from sales of its products through franchise 
stores and online shops. Most of the products sold under 
its brands are designed by the Group, and the majority 
of the products sold are manufactured by independent 
manufacturers in the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC”).

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 4 wholesale 
distributors, 19 consignment distributors and 102 sub- 
distributors operating a total of 650 (2023: 568) retail 
shops in mainland China, and 5 (2023: 6) retail shops in 
Hong Kong. In addition, the Group operates WeChat store 
and other online shops on e-commerce platforms including 
T-mall, JD.com, Vipshop, Douyin and also sells products 
to other online distributors.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had three design 
workshops in Guangzhou, Milan and Paris, respectively, 
with a team of 19 (2023: 27) designers joining from 
mainland China, other Asian countries, Hong Kong and 
Europe. The Group also works with design institutes and 
contract designers from around the world. It offered over 
2,000 new stock-keeping-units (SKUs) for 2024 product 
collections (over 2,000 SKUs for 2023 product collections).

中國

4
19 102

650
568

19 27

2,000
2,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Retail channel performance
The retail performance of physical retail stores and online 
shops operated by the Group, its distributors or sub- 
distributors for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 
summarized below.

– Total retail revenue from all retail channels for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 decreased by 
13.9% as compared to the year ended 31 December 
2023.

– Retail sales revenue from physical retail stores for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 decreased by 
11.0% as compared to the year ended 31 December 
2023.

– Retail revenue from online platforms decreased by 
19.7% for the year ended 31 December 2024 as 
compared to the year ended 31 December 2023.

– Cabbeen had approximately 4.1 million WeChat 
fans and members as of 31 December 2024.

– The average retail discount at physical stores for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was 27.6% (2023: 
25.9%).

– As of 31 January 2025, the sell-through rate of the 
Group’s 2024 collections was over 73.2%.

– 

13.9%

– 

11.0%

– 

19.7%

– 
4.1

– 
27.6%

25.9%

– 

73.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

RETAIL STORES NETWORK

Retail network by geographical regions

As of 31 December 2024 As of 31 December 2023
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

Wholesale Consignment Self-operated Total Wholesale Consignment Self-operated Total
批發 代銷 自營 總計

Geographical 地區
Central China 124 33 – 157 128 27 – 155
Southwestern China 37 72 – 109 31 66 – 97
Southern China 46 208 – 254 21 196 – 217
Eastern China 4 54 – 58 – 40 – 40
Northern China 4 26 – 30 3 25 – 28
Northwestern China 12 27 – 39 8 20 – 28
Northeastern China – 3 – 3 – 3 – 3
Hong Kong – – 5 5 – – 6 6

          

Total 總計 227 423 5 655 191 377 6 574
          

Shopping mall 商場
Department store百貨公司
Street shops 街舖

Cabbeen 卡賓
Cabbeen Urban 卡賓都市
2AM 凌晨兩點

others 其他
Multi-brands and 多品牌及

Tier 1 一線
Tier 2 二線
Tier 3 三線
Tier 4 四線

Retail outlets by brands 按品牌劃分的零售店舖

Retail outlets by channel 按渠道劃分的零售店舖

Retail outlets by city-tiers 按城市級別劃分的零售店舖

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

2024

125

19.1%

147

22.4%

383

58.5%

As of 31 December 2023
截至二零二三年十二月三十一日

2023

304

53.0%

146

25.4%

124

21.6%

2024

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

70

200
30.5% 318

48.6%

67
10.2%

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

483

73.7%

17
2.6%

22

3.4% 133

20.3%

2024 2023

387

67.4%

18

3.1%

9

1.6%

160

27.9%

As of 31 December 2023
截至二零二三年十二月三十一日

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日
As of 31 December 2023

2023

65
11.3% 167

29.1% 275

47.9%

67
11.7%10.7%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Stating from 2024, as China society fully returns to 
normal operations, along with the implementation of 
various consumption-boosting policies, the conditions 
and foundation have been established for a stable and 
positive recovery of the Chinese market. However, due 
to factors such as weak market expectations, insufficient 
endogenous consumer demand and rising costs, the 
Chinese apparel industry faced challenges and pressures, 
with a noticeable slowdown in market growth during the 
year.

Amid an overall slowdown in growth, domestic apparel 
brands have become increasingly homogenized and 
competitive, while foreign brands are also intensifying 
their efforts to capture market share. Consumers have 
shown a tendency toward rational spending, being 
relatively cautious when purchasing non-essential goods 
and mid-range fashion products, which has dampened 
expectations for commodity consumption. In addition, 
consumer demands have diversified, with increasing 
expectations for clothing quality, functionality, and 
shopping and consumption experiences. We believe that 
the uncertain economic environment and unfavorable 
market factors are likely to persist in the short term, and 
the recovery trend of the Chinese apparel industry will 
continue to face challenges.

Shopping mall 商場
Department store百貨公司
Street shops 街舖

Cabbeen 卡賓
Cabbeen Urban 卡賓都市
2AM 凌晨兩點

others 其他
Multi-brands and 多品牌及

Tier 1 一線
Tier 2 二線
Tier 3 三線
Tier 4 四線

Retail outlets by brands 按品牌劃分的零售店舖

Retail outlets by channel 按渠道劃分的零售店舖

Retail outlets by city-tiers 按城市級別劃分的零售店舖

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

2024

125

19.1%

147

22.4%

383

58.5%

As of 31 December 2023
截至二零二三年十二月三十一日

2023

304

53.0%

146

25.4%

124

21.6%

2024

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

70

200
30.5% 318

48.6%

67
10.2%

As of 31 December 2024
截至二零二四年十二月三十一日

483

73.7%

17
2.6%

22

3.4% 133

20.3%

2024 2023

387

67.4%

18

3.1%

9

1.6%

160

27.9%

As of 31 December 2023
截至二零二三年十二月三十一日

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日
As of 31 December 2023

2023

65
11.3% 167

29.1% 275

47.9%

67
11.7%10.7%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS
The Group maintains a cautious outlook on the apparel 
market, and will focus on pragmatic development in the 
future.

The Group wil l  continue to collaborate with high-
quality suppliers, manufacturers, and business partners 
to consistent ly enhance the clothing qual i ty and 
craftsmanship, closely monitor evolving consumer 
trends, swiftly adapt to product demands and provide 
customers with high-quality, cost-effective, and uniquely 
designed apparel products, in order to increase customer 
satisfaction and improve the product turnover days. 
Meanwhile, the Group will remain focused on enhancing 
operational efficiency to control operating costs and 
expenses.

The Group will continue to expand its physical retail stores 
network, focusing on third- and fourth-tier cities as well 
as provincial markets where it holds a competitive sales 
advantage, aiming to increase the brand’s domestic 
market share. In addition, the Group will continue to 
optimize its marketing strategies, service quality and 
customer experience, and elevate the image of its physical 
stores to provide consumers with an exceptional shopping 
experience and enhance customers’ brand stickiness and 
brand image.

The Group will also further develop its online sales platform 
business, adjust its sales and pricing strategies according 
to market conditions, introduce top-tier online operators, 
strengthen the synergistic integration of online and offline 
channels, and conduct omni-channel operations to meet 
consumers’ multi-touchpoint consumption needs.

Furthermore, the Group will strengthen brand promotion 
and development by leveraging various channels such 
as social media, brand collaborations and brand apparel 
launch events, to maintain the Group’s brand image and 
value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
Revenue by sales channel

Year ended 31 December
截至十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
人民幣千元

Online shops 545,033 52.7% 623,029 52.4%

Offline shops
Wholesale 81,348 7.9% 145,265 12.2%
Consignment 335,411 32.4% 341,175 28.7%
Self-operated 21,327 2.0% 24,641 2.1%

438,086 42.3% 511,081 43.0%

OEM 51,889 5.0% 54,538 4.6%

1,035,008 100.0% 1,188,648 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

462.3
511.6

9.6%
43.0%

44.7%

2.4 47.4
49.8

19.4%

Revenue by brands
Year ended 31 December
截至十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
人民幣千元

Cabbeen 619,732 59.9% 764,792 64.3%
Cabbeen Urban 268,356 25.9% 270,032 22.7%
2AM 40,305 3.9% 34,888 2.9%
Other brands 54,726 5.3% 64,398 5.5%
OEM 51,889 5.0% 54,538 4.6%

1,035,008 100.0% 1,188,648 100.0%
      

Gross profit and gross profit margin
The gross profit was RMB462.3 million for the year ended 
31 December 2024, representing a decrease of 9.6% 
as compared to RMB511.6 million for the year ended 
31 December 2023. Gross profit margin increased from 
43.0% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 44.7% 
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was mainly 
attributable to the decrease in purchase cost.

Other net income
Other net income mainly consisted of interest income from 
bank deposits, government grants, net foreign exchange 
differences and other miscellaneous income. The decrease 
in other net income by RMB2.4 million to RMB47.4 million 
(2023: RMB49.8 million) for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was mainly due to net effect of the increase in 
gain on sale of promotion and display materials and 
the decrease in government grants and the net foreign 
exchange loss.

Selling and distribution expenses
Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of 
operating cost for e-commerce sales channels, advertising 
and promotion expenses, and delivery and logistics 
expenses. Selling and distribution expenses for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 decreased by 19.4% as 
compared to 2023 which was mainly attributable to the 
decrease in advertising and promotion expenses and 
delivery and logistics expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Selling and distribution expense for the year ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 mainly comprised the following 
items:

Year ended 31 December
截至十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Staff costs 34,919 42,574
Advertising and promotion 75,396 86,851
Delivery and logistics 22,699 48,597
E-commerce platform and 

operating expenses
43,669 50,767

Others 20,966 16,450

197,649 245,239
    

Administrative and other operating expenses
Administrative and other operating expenses mainly 
comprised staff costs, research and development 
expenses, provision for inventories and doubtful debts, 
depreciat ion and amort izat ion charges and other 
expenses. Administrative and other operating expenses 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to 
RMB222.5 million, representing a decrease of RMB5.0 
million or 2.2% from that of the last year, which was mainly 
attributable to the net effect of the increase in impairment 
loss of trade and other receivables; and the decrease 
in staff costs, research and development expenses and 
inventory write-down.

222.5
5.0 2.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 mainly comprised the 
following items:

Year ended 31 December
截至十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Staff costs 42,141 46,973
Research and development expenses, 

exclude staff costs 4,173 17,636
Amortization and depreciation 34,582 32,229
Auditors’ remuneration 2,838 3,144
Legal and professional fee 565 1,663
Impairment loss of trade and other 

receivables 44,919 14,095
Impairment loss of interest in an 

associate (note i) i 1,676 7,098
Inventory write-down 43,138 62,343
Donations 255 273
Others 48,239 42,027

222,526 227,481
    

(i) The impairment loss of interest in an associate was mainly 

attributable to the decrease in market value of an office complex 

in Guangzhou held by the associate.

Profit from operations
The Group recorded profit from operations of RMB89.6 
million (2023: RMB88.7 million) for the year ended 31 
December 2024. The increase in profit from operations 
was mainly due to the net effect of decrease in gross 
profit, other net income and operating expenses during the 
year ended 31 December 2024.

(i) 

89.6
88.7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Finance costs
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
finance costs amounted to RMB13.1 million, representing 
1.3% of the Group’s revenue (2023: RMB18.7 million or 
1.6%) for the year. Finance costs primarily included interest 
expenses for bank loans. The decrease in finance costs 
was mainly attributable to the net decrease of bank loans 
during the year.

Share of loss of an associate
The associated company is engaged in property 
development, in which the Group has 33% (2023: 
33%) effective equity interest. The property held by the 
associated company is an office complex in Guangzhou 
City, the PRC.

Income tax
For the year ended 31 December 2024, income tax 
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB37.8 million 
(2023: RMB37.1 million) and the effective tax rate was 
56.7% (2023: 57.5%).

Profit for the year
Profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted 
to RMB28.9 million (2023: RMB27.4 million). Net profit 
margin for the same year was 2.8% (2023: 2.3%).

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 
31 December 2024 were RMB4.10 cents (2023: RMB3.11 
cents) and RMB4.10 cents (2023: RMB3.11 cents), 
respectively.

13.1
1.3% 18.7

1.6%

33%
33%

37.8
37.1

56.7% 57.5%

28.9
27.4 2.8%

2.3%

4.10
3.11 4.10

3.11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and bank balances and cash flows
As at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and cash 
equivalents, pledged deposits, financial assets and time 
deposits with initial terms of over three months totaling 
RMB514.5 million (2023: RMB516.9 million), which were 
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollars 
(“HK$”) as to 99% and 1%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in net cash 
position of RMB13.2 million (2023: net debt position of 
RMB136.4 million). Net debt includes all borrowings net of 
cash and cash equivalents.

The Group recorded net operating cash inf low of 
RMB154.4 million (2023: RMB95.9 million) for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. Operating cash inflow for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly attributable 
to the decrease in trade and other receivables and tax 
payment during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Net cash generated from investing activities for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB43.4 million (2023: 
net cash used in investing activities of RMB121.3 million), 
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in fixed 
deposits and pledged bank deposits.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31 
December 2024 was RMB159.4 million (2023: net cash 
generated from financing activities of RMB12.6 million), 
which was mainly attributable to the net decrease of bank 
loans of approximately RMB111.0 million, the dividend 
payments and lease rental payments during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

514.5
516.9

99% 1% 人民幣
港元

13.2
136.4

154.4
95.9

43.4
121.3

159.4

12.6

111.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Bank loans and bank facilities
Bank loans as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 were 
denominated in the following currencies:

As at 
31 December 

2024

As at 
31 December 

2023
於二零二四年

十二月
三十一日

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Short term bank loans
HK$ – 141,035
RMB 218,603 195,603

218,603 336,638
    

Long term bank loans
RMB 7,000 –

7,000 –
    

Total bank loans
HK$ – 141,035
RMB 225,603 195,603

225,603 336,638
    

No short term bank loan denominated in HK$ as at 31 
December 2024 (2023: RMB141.0 million), which was at 
floating interest rate, unsecured and drawn under a one-
year revolving loan facility of HK$100.0 million offered by 
a licensed bank in Hong Kong. Pursuant to the facility, the 
controlling shareholder shall maintain his equity interest 
and voting rights in the Company at a certain level, and at 
the same time it is subject to the fulfilment of covenants 
relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios. A breach 
of these undertakings would result in the drawn down 
facilities and interest becoming payable on demand. As 
of 31 December 2024, none of the undertakings was 
breached.

141.0

100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

No short term banks loans denominated in RMB were at 
fixed rate and unsecured as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 
RMB5.4 million).

Bank loans denominated in RMB of RMB225.6 million as 
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB190.2 million), of which 
RMB7.0 million were repayable over 1 year (2023: Nil). The 
loans were at fixed rate, secured by certain pledged bank 
deposits, land use rights and certain properties of the 
Group with aggregated carrying value of RMB226.6 million 
(2023: RMB255.9 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total banking 
facilities of RMB476.9 million (2023: RMB638.9 million), of 
which RMB166.8 million (2023: RMB155.9 million) were 
unutilized.

Working capital
Inventory
Average inventory turnover days of the Group remained 
relatively stable for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and 31 December 2023 at 185 days and 182 days, 
respectively.

Trade and bills receivables
Ageing and expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance of 
trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are set in note 26(a) to the financial statements.

Trade and bills receivables are generally due within 180- 
270 days from the date of billings. Average turnover days 
of trade and bills receivables increased to 218 days for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to 186 
days for 2023, which was attributable to the decrease 
in revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 as 
compared to 2023 and the increase in average balances 
of trade and bills receivables.

5.4

225.6
190.2 7.0

226.6
255.9

476.9
638.9 166.8

155.9

185 182

預期信貸虧損
26(a)

180 270

218
186



25

卡賓服 飾有限公司      2024年報

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Approximately 80% of trade and bills receivables as at 31 
December 2023 was subsequently settled during the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The Group has been in on-
going negotiation with customers about the repayment 
plan. The Group also has periodic communications with its 
customers about their business plans in order to increase 
their retail revenue, which include the plan for reshuffle 
their retail network, inventory management, merchandise 
order strategies, collaboration with shopping malls or 
other platforms for promotion activities. The Company also 
formed a committee led by an executive Director to closely 
monitor the progress of subsequent settlements.

The Directors assessed the credit loss allowances 
using a provision matrix and took into account factors 
including the ageing of the trade and bills receivables 
balances, repayment history of the customers, current 
market condition and expected retail performance of 
shops operated by the Group’s distributors. Taking into 
account all these factors, the Directors considered the loss 
allowances were adequate as at 31 December 2024.

Trade and bills payables
Average trade and bills payable turnover days of the Group 
remained relatively stable for the year ended 31 December 
2024 and 31 December 2023 at 157 days and 157 days, 
respectively.

Gearing ratio
The Group’s gearing ratio was 16.8% as at 31 December 
2024 (2023: 25.2%), being a ratio of sum of bank loans of 
RMB225.6 million (2023: RMB336.6 million) to equity. The 
significant decrease in gearing ratio as at 31 December 
2024 was due to the decrease in bank loans.

FINANCING AND TREASURY POLICIES
The Group adopts centralized financing and treasury 
policies in order to ensure the Group’s funding is utilized 
efficiently. The Group’s liquidity position remains healthy 
and the Group possesses sufficient cash and available 
banking facilities to meet its commitments and working 
capital requirements.

80%

157 157

16.8% 25.2%
225.6

336.6
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s primary objectives for managing its capital 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to provide returns 
to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by 
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk 
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. 
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its 
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher 
shareholder’s returns that might be possible with higher 
level of borrowings and the advantages and security based 
on a sound capital position, and makes adjustments 
to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS
The Group mainly operates in mainland China with most 
of the transactions originally denominated and settled 
in RMB. However, the Group pays dividends in HK$ 
and certain of its banking facilities are also denominated 
in HK$. Accordingly, the Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from HK$ against RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange r isk by 
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign 
exchange exposures and to mitigate the impact on 
exchange rate fluctuations by entering into currency 
hedge arrangement if necessary. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, the Group has not used derivative 
financial instruments to hedge against its foreign exchange 
risks.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, deposits with certain banks 
totaling RMB38.5 million (2023: RMB68.2 million) and 
certain land and properties thereon located in Fujian 
Province of the PRC with carrying amount of RMB188.1 
mil l ion (2023: RMB187.7 mil l ion) were pledged as 
securities for bank loans and bills payable facilities. 
The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the 
settlement of relevant bank loans and bills payable.

38.5 68.2
188.1

187.7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP
Except for interest in an associate amounted to RMB20.4 
million (2023: RMB31.9 million), there was no significant 
investment held by the Group as of 31 December 2024. 
The decrease in amount was mainly due to the impairment 
loss of goodwill amounted to RMB1.7 million and share of 
loss of the associate of RMB9.8 million for the year ended 
31 December 2024. Please refer to note 13 to the financial 
statements for details of such investment in the associate. 
The associated company is holding an office complex in 
Guangzhou, the PRC for sales and rental purposes. The 
Group’s investment in this associate is for long term capital 
appreciation.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND 
JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES
There was no material acquisition and disposal of 
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture 
companies by the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND 
CAPITAL ASSETS
The Group did not have any future plans for material 
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital 
commitments (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material 
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

20.4
31.9

1.7
9.8

13
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 126 employees 
(2023: 225 employees). Total staff costs, including 
directors emoluments, for the year ended 31 December 
2024 amounted to approximately RMB77.1 million (2023: 
RMB89.5 million). The decrease of workforce was primarily 
due to the optimization of the Group’s organization 
structure, and subcontracting of certain non-core work 
tasks. The Group’s remuneration policy includes annual 
increment and year-end performance bonus mechanism, 
which is designed to retain, reward and motivate 
employees for their contributions.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For Determining the Eligibility to Attend and Vote at 
the 2025 AGM
The register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Thursday, 17 April 2025 to Thursday, 24 April 2025 
(both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the 
shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the 
“2025 AGM”). In order to qualify for attending and voting at 
the 2025 AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant 
share certificate must be lodged with the Company’s share 
registrar and transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 16 April 
2025.

126
225

77.1
89.5

二
零二五年股東週年大會

183 17  
1712-1716
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For Determining the Eligibility to the Proposed Final 
Dividend
In addition, subject to the approval of the proposed 
final dividend by the shareholders at the 2025 AGM on 
Thursday, 24 April 2025, the register of members will be 
closed on Wednesday, 30 April 2025 for the purpose of 
determining shareholders who qualify for the proposed 
final dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed final 
dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share 
certificate must be lodged with the Company’s share 
registrar and transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 April 2025.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend 
of HK$0.86 cents (2023: HK$0.70 cents) per ordinary 
share for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. 
Including the interim dividend paid for the year ended 
31 December 2024, total dividend payout for the year is 
approximately HK$12.0 million (equivalent to approximately 
RMB11.0 million) (2023: HK$9.4 million, equivalent to 
approximately RMB8.6 million) or a dividend payout ratio of 
40% (2023: 40%). Subject to shareholders’ approval at the 
2025 AGM of the Company, the final dividend will be paid 
in cash on or around 13 May 2025 to shareholders whose 
names appear on the register of members of the Company 
on Wednesday, 30 April 2025.

 

183
17 1712-1716

0.86
0.70

12.0
11.0 9.4

8.6 40%
40%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

DIVIDEND POLICY
The declaration, payment and amount of dividends will 
be subject to the Company’s discretion. Dividends may 
be paid only out of its distributable reserves as permitted 
under the relevant laws. Holders of the shares will be 
entitled to receive such dividends pro rata according to 
the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the shares. 
Subject to the factors described above, the Company 
has adopted a general dividend policy since the financial 
year ended 31 December 2018 of declaring and paying 
dividends on semi-annual basis of not more than 50% 
of its total net profit attributable to equity shareholders of 
the Company. The Board would review the Company’s 
dividend policy from time to time considering factors 
including but not limited to debt covenants, capital 
investment and business plan.

50%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of 
corporate governance and business ethics, believing that 
these are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence 
and maximizing shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews 
its corporate governance practices from time to time in 
order to meet the rising expectations of stakeholders, 
comply with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements 
and fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate 
governance.

After reviewing the Company’s corporate governance 
practices and the relevant regulations of the Corporate 
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Board is 
satisfied that save for the deviation from code provision 
C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code as disclosed below, the 
Company complied with the CG Code provisions for the 
year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is committed to providing effective and 
responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors, 
individually and collectively, must act in good faith and in 
the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 
The Board has established four Board committees, being 
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance 
Committee (each a “Board Committee” and collectively 
the “Board Committees”), to oversee different areas of 
the Company’s affairs.

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, 
namely Dr. Ziming Yang and Mr. Rongqin Ke and three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yung 
Kwok Tsui, Mr. Ming Shu Leung and Ms. Jing Gu.

上市規則
C1 企

業管治守則
2 C.2.1

董事會委員
會 該等董事會委員會
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family 
relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 63 
to 69 in this annual report. A list of the Directors identifying 
their roles and functions are available on the websites of 
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Dr. Ziming Yang, the chairman of the Board (the 
“Chairman”) and an executive Director of the Company, is 
the brother-in-law of Mr. Rongqin Ke, who is an executive 
Director of the Company. Save as disclosed herein, there 
are no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among members of the Board, senior 
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of 
the issuer.

The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and 
strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and 
f inancial  performance and reviews the corporate 
governance standard of the Group. It also decides 
on matters such as annual and interim results, major 
transactions, director appointments or re-appointments, 
investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The 
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for 
implementing its business strategies and managing the 
daily operations of the Group’s businesses to the executive 
Directors and members of senior management. The 
functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed 
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate.

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing 
and monitoring the policies and practices on corporate 
governance and legal and regulatory compliance of the 
Group, and the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management. The 
Board also reviews the disclosures in the Corporate 
Governance Report to ensure compliance.

All Board members have separate and independent 
access to the Group’s senior management to fulfill their 
duties. Independent professional advice can be sought 
to assist relevant Directors to discharge their duties at 
the Group’s expense upon their reasonable request. The 
Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of 
such mechanism annually.

63 69

聯
交所

主席
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon 
their first appointment, the directorships or other positions 
they are concurrently holding at other companies or 
organizations. These interests are updated on an annual 
basis as and when necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is supported by a number of committees, 
including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Nomination Committee, and Corporate Governance 
Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and 
written terms of reference approved by the Board covering 
its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of reference 
are available on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with suff icient 
resources to discharge their duties, including access 
to management or professional advice if considered 
necessary.

(i) Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established on 8 October 
2013. The Audit Committee comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. 
Yung Kwok Tsui, Mr. Ming Shu Leung and Ms. 
Jing Gu. Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui, who has appropriate 
professional qualif ications and experience in 
accounting matters, was appointed as the chairman 
of the Audit Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
are to assist the Board in providing an independent 
view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting 
process, internal control and risk management 
systems, and relationship with external auditors 
of the Group, overseeing the audit process and 
performing other duties and such responsibilities 
as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee 
reviews and discusses audit plans of the Company’s 
external auditors, the effectiveness of the internal 
audit function performed by external professional 
expert, the results of their examinations as well as 
their evaluations of the system of risk management 
and internal control.

(i) 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee held two meetings during 
the year ended 31 December 2024. Major work 
completed by the Audit Committee during the year 
includes:

• reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim 
financial information and annual financial 
statements;

• reviewed significant accounting and audit 
issues;

• reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, 
independence and performance;

• reviewed the external auditor’s management 
letter and the management’s response;

• reviewed the effectiveness of the internal 
audit function performed by the external 
professional expert;

• assisted the Board to evaluate on the 
effectiveness of financial reporting procedures 
and internal control system;

• advised on material event or drew the 
attention of the management on related risks;

• reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Group’s systems of internal control and 
risk management;

• reviewed connected transactions entered into 
by the Group or subsisting during the year; 
and

• reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems in 
respect of the previous fiscal year annually.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(ii) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established on 
8 October 2013. The Remuneration Committee 
comprises two independent non-executive Directors 
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Yung 
Kwok Tsui, Mr. Ming Shu Leung and Dr. Ziming 
Yang. Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui is the chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee are to review and make recommendations 
to the Board on the overall remuneration structure 
and policy for all Directors and senior management 
as well as the specific remuneration packages for 
the executive Directors and senior management and 
on the establishment of a formal and transparent 
process for developing such remuneration policy. 
No Director takes part in any discussion on his/
her own remuneration. The Company’s objective 
for its remuneration policy is to maintain fair 
and competitive packages based on business 
requirements and industry practice. In order to 
determine the level of remuneration and fees paid 
to members of the Board, market rates and factors 
such as each director’s workload, performance, 
responsibility, job complexity and the Group’s 
performance are taken into account.

The remuneration policy for the Directors and 
our senior management members is based on 
their experience, level of responsibility, length 
of service and general market conditions. Any 
discretionary bonus and other merit payments are 
linked to the financial results of the Group and the 
individual performance of the Directors and senior 
management members.

(ii) 
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting 
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Major 
work completed by the Remuneration Committee 
during the year includes:

• reviewed the remunerat ion pol icy and 
structure relating to the Directors and senior 
management of the Company;

• reviewed the Company’s share opt ion 
scheme; and

• assessed performance of our executive 
Directors, discussed and approved the terms 
of executive Directors’ service contracts.

The remuneration of the senior management of the 
Group by band for the year ended 31 December 
2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band Number of person
酬金範圍 人數

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 1
   

Particulars of Directors’ remuneration and the five 
highest paid employees during the year ended 31 
December 2024 as disclosed pursuant to Appendix 
D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 7 and 8 
to the financial statements, respectively.

• 

• 

• 

D2

7 8
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(iii) Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was established on 8 
October 2013. It comprises one executive Director 
and two independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Dr. Ziming Yang, Mr. Ming Shu Leung and 
Ms. Jing Gu. Dr. Ziming Yang is the chairman of the 
Nomination Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination 
Committee are to review the composition of the 
Board, including its structure, size and diversity 
at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of 
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the 
requirements of the business of the Group. It is also 
responsible for considering and recommending to 
the Board suitably qualified persons to become 
a member of the Board, monitor the succession 
planning of Directors and assess the independence 
of independent non-executive Directors. The 
Nomination Committee will also give consideration 
to the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) 
when identifying suitably qualified candidates to 
become members of the Board, and the Board will 
review the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below), 
so as to develop and review measurable objectives 
for the implementation the Board Diversity Policy 
(as defined below) and to monitor the progress on 
achieving these objectives.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
reviewed the size, diversity and composition of the 
Board, and discussed the policy for the nomination 
of directors.

(iii) 
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(iv) Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee was 
established on 8 October 2013. It comprises one 
executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Ziming Yang, Mr. 
Yung Kwok Tsui and Mr. Ming Shu Leung. Dr. Ziming 
Yang is the chairman of the Corporate Governance 
Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Corporate 
Governance Commit tee are to  rev iew and 
monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance, the training and continuous 
professional development of the Company’s 
Directors and senior management, the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements, and to review the 
Company’s compliance with the CG Code set out in 
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Corporate Governance Committee held one 
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2024 
and has reviewed the Group’s corporate governance 
policies and practices and sufficiency of training to 
the Company’s Directors and senior management, 
and reviewed duties performed by the Board under 
code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code set 
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

(iv) 

C1

C1 2
A.2.1
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BOARD MEETINGS
Board meetings are held regularly and at least four times a 
year at approximately quarterly intervals. For regular Board 
meetings, notices of at least 14 days are given to facilitate 
maximum attendance of the Directors and agenda with 
supporting documents are sent to Directors not less than 
3 days before the relevant meeting is held. Directors may 
propose to the Chairman or the company secretary of the 
Company (the “Company Secretary”) to include matters 
in the agenda for regular board meetings. At the meeting, 
the Directors are provided with the relevant documents 
to be considered and approved. Draft and final versions 
of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments 
and records respectively within a reasonable time after 
the board meeting is held. Minutes of Board meetings 
are taken by the Company Secretary or a duly appointed 
secretary of the Board meeting and are open for inspection 
by any Director.

The table below sets out the attendance of each Director 
at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) and the 
meetings of the Board and other Board committees held 
during the year:

Meetings attended/held
出席╱舉行會議

AGM Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Corporate 
governance 
Committee

股東週年大會 董事會 審核委員會 薪酬委員會 提名委員會 企業管治委員會

Executive Directors 執行董事
Dr. Ziming Yang 1/1 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Rongqin Ke 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent  
non-executive 
Directors

獨立非執行董事

Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Ming Shu Leung 0/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Ms. Jing Gu 0/1 4/4 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A

14

3
公司秘書

股東週年大會
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company has entered into a 
service contract with the Company for a term of three 
years, subject to his/her retirement and re-election at 
the AGM in accordance with the Company’s articles of 
association.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, 
a person may be appointed as a Director either by the 
shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Any 
Directors appointed by the Board as additional Directors 
or to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next 
following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election 
by the shareholders. In addition, all Directors are required 
to retire by rotation at least once every three years at the 
AGM, and are eligible for re-election by the shareholders.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY
The Nomination Committee shall endeavor to f ind 
individuals of high integrity who have a solid record of 
accomplishment in their chosen fields and who possess 
the qualifications, qualities and skills to effectively represent 
the best interests of the Group and its shareholders. 
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good 
judgment, and to provide practical insights and diverse 
perspectives. Candidates will also be assessed in the 
context of the then-current composition of the Board and 
the operating requirements of the Group. In conducting 
this assessment, the Nomination Committee will, in 
connection with its assessment and recommendation of 
candidates for director, consider diversity (including, but 
not limited to, gender, race, ethnicity, age, experience 
and skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate 
given the then-current and anticipated future needs of 
the Board and the Company, and to maintain a balance 
of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills on the 
Board.
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The Nomination Committee considers the following 
qualifications at a minimum to be required of any Board 
member when recommending the potential new board 
members, or the continued service of existing members to 
the Board:

• the highest professional and personal ethics;

• broad experience in business;

• ability to provide insights and practical wisdom 
based on their experience and expertise;

• commitment to enhancing shareholder value;

• sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; 
their service on other boards of public companies 
should be limited to a reasonable number;

• compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; 
and

• ability to develop a good working relationship with 
other Board members and contribute to the Board’s 
working relationship with senior management of the 
Group.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board 
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 8 
October 2013. The Company recognizes and embraces 
the benefits of diversity of Board members. While all Board 
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis, 
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of 
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate 
to the needs of the Company’s business. Selection 
of candidates will be based on the Company’s Board 
Nomination Policy and a range of diversity perspectives, 
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, experience (professional or 
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The Board also aspires 
to having an appropriate proportion of directors who 
have direct experience in the Group’s core markets and 
distribution channels.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

董事會多元化政
策
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The Board considers that independent Directors can 
enhance the effectiveness and decision-making of the 
Board by providing independent view, objective judgement 
and constructive challenge to the Board and management 
of the Group.

The ult imate decision wil l  be based on merit and 
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the 
Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the 
Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing 
on a single diversity aspect.

After reviewing the Board composition, the Board 
recognizes the importance and benefits of gender diversity 
at the Board level and shall continue to take initiatives 
to identify female candidate(s) to enhance the gender 
diversity among the Board members. As of the date of 
this report, the Board has one female Director out of 
five Directors. We will continue our endeavor to increase 
female representation in our Board.

Our diversity philosophy, including gender diversity, was 
generally followed in the workforce throughout the Group. 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had 
126 employees (including senior management), of which 
approximately 50.8% were female.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in 
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and 
officers.

DIRECTORS’  CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the 
shareholders and have exercised their duties with care, skill 
and diligence, in pursuit of the development of the Group. 
All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the 
Company’s performance and financial position to enable 
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge 
their duties. In addition, briefings and updates on the 
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other 
applicable regulatory requirements are provided to the 
Board during Board meetings to ensure compliance and 
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance 
practices. In November 2024, the Company, together with 
its legal adviser, organized a training session to provide the 
Directors with an update on the Listing Rules.

126
50.8%
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Dr. Ziming Yang holds the positions of Chairman and 
chief executive officer. Such practice deviates from code 
provision C.2.1 of the Part 2 of CG Code which stipulates 
that the roles of Chairman and chief executive officer 
should be separated and should not be performed by the 
same individual.

In view of Dr. Yang’s extensive experience in the industry 
and deep understanding of the Group’s businesses, the 
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and 
chief executive officer in Dr. Yang provides the Group with 
strong and consistent leadership, allows for more effective 
planning and execution of long-term business strategies 
and enhances efficiency in decision-making.

As all major decisions are made in consultation with 
members of the Board and relevant Board committees, 
and there are independent non-executive Directors on the 
Board offering independent perspectives, the Board is 
therefore of the view that there are adequate safeguards 
in place to ensure sufficient balance of powers within the 
Board. The Board will continue to review and monitor the 
practices of the Company for the purpose of complying 
with the CG Code and maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance practices of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The role of the independent non-executive Directors is 
to provide independent and objective opinions to the 
Board, giving adequate control and balances for the 
Group to protect the overall interests of the shareholders 
and the Group. They serve actively on the Board and its 
committees to provide their independent and objective 
views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing 
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent 
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-
third of the Board. One of the independent non-executive 
Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications in 
accounting or related financial management expertise as 
required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

2 C.2.1

 

3.10(1) 3.10A

3.10(2)
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During the tenure of office, all of the independent non-
executive Directors have performed their duties and 
responsibility to the satisfaction of the Board. In addition, 
each independent non-executive Director has submitted 
annual confirmation of his independence to the Company 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is 
of the opinion that Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui and Mr. Ming Shu 
Leung maintain their independence even they have served 
the Board for more than twelve years since February 2013, 
and believes that their valuable knowledge and experience 
continue to generate significant contribution to the Board, 
the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules 
as the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ 
securities transactions (the “Securities Dealing Code”). 
Upon specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they 
have complied with the relevant provisions of the Securities 
Dealing Code throughout the year ended 31 December 
2024.

Senior management who, because of their office in 
the Company, are likely to be in possession of inside 
information, have also been requested to comply with the 
provisions of the Securities Dealing Code.

3.13

C3
標準守則

證券交易守則
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lai Wah Wong resigned, and Mr. Wai Fung Lui (“Mr. 
Lui”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary with 
effect from 16 April 2024. Mr. Lui is a full time employee 
of the Group with the day-to-day knowledge of the 
Company’s affairs and has taken not less than 15 hours of 
the relevant professional training required under Rule 3.29 
of the Listing Rules during the year. For details of Mr. Lui’s 
biography, please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors 
and Senior Management – Senior Management”.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board recognizes its responsibi l i ty to ensure 
the Company maintains a sound and effective risk 
management and internal control system. The system 
include a defined management structure with limits of 
authority, and are designed to help the Group identify, 
evaluate and manage the significant risks to achieve 
its business objectives, safeguard its assets against 
unauthorized use or disposition, ensure the maintenance 
of proper accounting records for the provision of 
reliable financial information for internal use or for 
publication, and ensure compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations. The Group’s internal control system is 
designed to safeguard assets against misappropriation 
and unauthorized disposition and to manage operational 
risks. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering 
major financial, operational and compliance controls, as 
well as risk management functions. The controls built into 
the risk management system are intended to manage, 
not eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business 
environment.

雷先生

3.29
15
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The Board engaged external professional expert to carry 
out the internal audit functions to assess the effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems periodically which covered all material controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls as 
well as risk management functions.

The Group’s risk management framework includes the 
following elements:

• identify significant risks in the Group’s operation 
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks 
on the Group’s business;

• develop necessary measures to manage those 
risks;

• monitor and review the effectiveness of such 
measures; and

• review the effectiveness of the Group’s r isk 
management and internal control systems in respect 
of the previous fiscal year annually.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy 
which, among other things, included the determination of 
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could take 
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based 
on the reports from the Audit Committee, the Board 
considers the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems are adequate and effective and the Group 
has complied with the provisions on risk management and 
internal controls as set out in the CG Code throughout the 
year ended 31 December 2024.

• 

• 

• 

• 
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare 
the consolidated financial statements which give a true 
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and 
cash flows for the year and in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board and the 
statutory requirements. The Company has selected 
appropriate accounting policies and has applied them 
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments 
and estimates. The Directors consider that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in business for 
the foreseeable future and not aware of any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may 
affect the business of the Company or cast doubts on its 
ability to continue as going concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
KPMG has been appointed as the external auditor of 
the Company. The Audit Committee has been notified of 
the nature and the service charges of non-audit services 
performed by KPMG and considered that such services 
have no adverse effect on the independence of the 
external auditor.
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During the year, the fees payable to KPMG or its affiliated 
firms comprise service charges for the following:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Statutory audit 1,900 1,900
Review of interim results 800 800
Internal control review 180 180
Tax consultation services 10 –

There was no disagreement between the Board and the 
Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the 
external auditor during the year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS
Dr. Ziming Yang, Acute Result Holdings Limited (“Acute 
Result”), Ascend Fame Limited (“Ascend Fame”), Prime 
Ascend Limited (“Prime Ascend”) are the controlling 
shareholders (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) of 
the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”). Each 
of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the 
Company that none of them is engaged in, or interested 
in any business (other than the Group) which directly or 
indirectly competes or may compete with the business 
of the Group. To protect the Group from any potential 
competition, the Controlling Shareholders have given an 
irrevocable non-compete undertaking in the Group’s favour 
on 8 October 2013 (the “Deed of Non-competition”).

 

銳成
昇譽 元陞

控股股東

不競
爭契據
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In order to properly manage any potential or actual 
conf l ict  of  interests between the Group and the 
Controlling Shareholders in relation to the compliance 
and enforcement of the non-compete undertaking, the 
Company has adopted the following corporate governance 
measures:

(a) the independent non-executive Directors wil l 
review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the 
undertaking given by the Controlling Shareholders 
under the Deed of Non-competition;

(b) the Controlling Shareholders undertake to provide 
all information requested by the Company which is 
necessary for the annual review by the independent 
non-executive Directors and the enforcement of the 
Deed of Non-competition;

(c) the Company will disclose decisions on matters 
reviewed by the independent non-executive 
Directors relating to compliance and enforcement 
of the non-compete undertaking of the Controlling 
Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition in 
the annual reports of the Company; and

(d) the Controlling Shareholders will make an annual 
declaration on compliance with their undertaking 
under the Deed of Non-competition in the annual 
report of the Company.

The Directors consider that the above corporate 
governance measures are sufficient to manage any 
potential conflict of interests between the Controlling 
Shareholders and their respective associates and the 
Group and to protect the interests of the shareholders, in 
particular, the minority shareholders.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the 
Company that he/it has complied with the Deed of Non-
competition. The independent non-executive Directors 
of the Company have reviewed the status of compliance 
and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition and 
confirmed that all the undertakings thereunder have been 
complied with.

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Company aims to, via its corporate governance 
structure, enable all its shareholders an equal opportunity 
to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow all 
shareholders to engage actively with the Company. Under 
the Company’s articles of association, the shareholder 
communication pol icy and other relevant internal 
procedures of the Company, the shareholders of the 
Company enjoy, among others, the following rights:

(i) Participation at general meetings
The general meetings of the Company provide 
an opportunity for direct communication between 
the Board and the shareholders. The Company 
encourages the participation of the shareholders 
through annual general meetings and other general 
meetings where the shareholders meet and 
exchange views with the Board, and to exercise 
their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall 
arrange notices of meetings and circulars containing 
details on proposed resolutions to be sent to the 
shareholders not less than 21 clear days (for annual 
general meeting) and 14 clear days (for extraordinary 
general meeting) before the meeting. At general 
meetings, separate resolutions are proposed on 
each substantial issue, including the election of 
individual Directors.

(ii) Enquiries and proposals to the Board
The Company encourages shareholders to attend 
shareholders’ meetings and make proposals by 
either directly raising questions on both operational 
and governance matters to the Board and Board 
Committees at the general meetings or providing 
written notice of such proposals for the attention 
of the Company Secretary at the principal place of 
business in Hong Kong at Unit A&B, 26 Floor, Billion 
Plaza II, 10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong or via email to ir@cabbeen.
com.

 

(i) 

21
14

(ii) 

10 26
A B ir@cabbeen.com
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(iii) Convening extraordinary general meetings
The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene 
an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”). EGM 
shall also be convened on the requisition of one or 
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of 
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting 
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made 
in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary 
and deposited at the principal place of business in 
Hong Kong at Unit A&B, 26 Floor, Billion Plaza II, 
10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an EGM to 
be called by the Directors for the transaction of any 
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting 
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of 
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit 
the Directors fail to proceed to convene such 
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable 
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result 
of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to 
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions under the Company’s 
articles of association or the Companies Law, Cap 
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) 
of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for 
shareholders to put forward proposals at general 
meetings other than a proposal of a person for 
election as director. Shareholders may follow the 
procedures set out above to convene an EGM for 
any business specified in such written requisition.

(iii) 
股

東特別大會

10 26
A B

21

22
3
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(iv) Procedures for proposing a person for election 
as a Director
Pursuant to the Art icle 85 of the art icles of 
associations of the Company, no person other 
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless 
recommended by the Directors for election, be 
eligible for election as a Director at any general 
meeting unless a Notice (as defined therein) signed 
by a Member (as defined therein) (other than the 
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend 
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is 
given of his intention to propose such person for 
election and also a Notice signed by the person 
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected 
shall have been lodged at the head office or at 
the Registration Office provided that the minimum 
length of the period, during which such Notice(s) 
are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the 
Notices are submitted after the despatch of the 
notice of the general meeting appointed for such 
election) the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) 
shall commence on the day after the despatch of 
the notice of the general meeting appointed for 
such election and end no later than 7 days prior to 
the date of such general meeting.

(iv)  

85

7

7
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
The Company considers that effective communication 
with the shareholders and stakeholders is essential for 
enhancing investor relations and understanding of the 
Group’s business, performance and strategies.

The Company is committed to enhancing long-term 
shareholders’ value through regular communication 
with its shareholders, both individual and institutional. 
The Company strives to ensure that all shareholders 
have ready, equal and timely access to all publicly 
available information of the Company that is accurate, 
comprehensible and informative. The shareholders’ 
communication policy sets out the framework in place to 
promote effective communication with shareholders so 
as to enable them to engage actively with the Company 
and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed 
manner.

The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue 
with the shareholders and in particular, through the AGM 
and the EGM. In respect of each matter to be considered 
at the AGM and the EGM, including the re-election of 
Directors, a separate resolution will be proposed by the 
Chairman. The Chairman and the chairmen of the Board 
Committees and, in their absence, other members of the 
respective committees, will be available at the AGM and 
the EGM to meet with the shareholders and answer their 
enquiries. The Company will also invite representatives 
of the auditor of the Company to attend the AGM of the 
Company to answer shareholders’ questions about the 
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the 
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s 
independence.
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The communication strategies under the shareholders’ 
communication policy are as follows:

(i) Shareholders’ Enquiries
Shareholders may direct their questions about their 
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrars.

Shareholders and the investment community may 
at any time make a request for the Company’s 
information to the extent such information is publicly 
available.

Shareholders and the investment community 
can contact the Company Secretary by email, 
fax, phone or mail via designated contacts of the 
Company during office hours in order to enable 
them to make any query in respect of the Company.

(ii) Corporate Communications
Corporate communication documents (including 
annual report, interim report, notice of meeting, 
circular and proxy form) would be provided to 
shareholders in plain language and in both English 
and Chinese versions to facilitate shareholders’ 
understanding. Shareholders have the right to 
choose the language (either English or Chinese) or 
means of receipt of the corporate communications 
(in hard copy or through electronic means).

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst 
other things, in particular, their email addresses 
to the Company in order to facilitate timely and 
effective communications.

(iii) Corporate Website
Information on the Company’s investor relations 
website (ir.cabbeen.com) is updated on a regular 
basis.

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
(ir.cabbeen.com)
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Corporate communications are posted on the 
Company website as soon as practicable following 
their publication on the website of the Stock 
Exchange. Such information includes, but not limited 
to, financial statements, results announcements, 
ESG reports, circulars and notices of general 
meetings and associated explanatory documents.

All press releases issued by the Company would be 
made available on the Company’s investor relations 
website as soon as practicable after their releases.

A dedicated Corporate Governance section is 
also available on the Company website, which 
included director nomination policy and shareholder 
communication policy, and updated on a regular 
basis.

(iv) Shareholders’ Meetings
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in 
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend 
and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they 
are unable to attend the meetings.

The process of the Company’s general meeting will 
be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, 
if necessary, changes will be made to ensure that 
shareholders’ needs are best served.

Board members, in particular, the chairmen of 
Board Committees or their delegates and external 
auditor would, where appropriate, attend the AGM 
to answer shareholders’ questions.

ESG

(iv) 
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(v) Investment Market Communications
Investor/analyst briefings and one-on-one meetings, 
roadshows, media interviews, company visits and 
marketing activities would be available when and 
if appropriate, in order to facilitate communication 
between the Company, shareholders and the 
investment community.

Directors and employees who have contacts or 
dialogues with investors, analysts, media or other 
interested outside parties are required to comply 
with the disclosure obligations and requirements 
under the Company’s information disclosure policy.

The Company continues to promote investor 
relations and enhance communication with the 
existing shareholders and potential investors. The 
Company welcomes suggestions from investors, 
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the 
Board or the Company may be sent by post to the 
Company’s principal place of business in Hong 
Kong. The Board reviewed the implementation and 
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication 
policy and considered the policy was properly 
carried out during the year.

(v) 



57

卡賓服 飾有限公司      2024年報

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

MISSION, CORE VALUE AND CORPORATE CULTURE

Vision
Leveraging Chinese culture to build a fashion brand for the 
world.

Mission
Focus on quality, pursue creative design, and continue to 
fulfil customer’s dressing needs for different occasions.

Core value
We work in fashion and pursue a quality life style;

Constantly improve and surpass ourselves;

We aim to create a harmonious and simple working 
environment that demonstrates individuality;

We are grateful and dedicated to serve our society while 
working hard to create a new fashion trend in China.

Business Philosophy
Our operation is our outline for enhancing our brand 
value, and our management is our foundation for building 
standardization of its systems and processes.

Management Principles
Share responsibilities and results, more pay for more work, 
refuse mediocrity.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY
The Group highly values honesty and integrity. The Group 
provides each employee with clear guidelines in staff 
handbook and organizes annual training on prevention 
of corruption. Employees of the Group may never offer, 
give, or accept gifts of cash (or cash equivalents) in any 
business relationship because these could be considered 
an illegal bribe or kickback. Gifts and hospitality from 
business partners to members of employees’ family, to 
those with whom the employee has a close personal 
relationship, would be treated as if they were given to that 
employee as well and thus be prohibited.

The Group requires all of its distributors and suppliers 
to sign anti-bribery sub-agreements when they enter 
into agreements with the Group. These anti-bribery sub-
agreements impose obligations on the distributors or 
suppliers and the Group to comply with applicable laws 
and regulations in relation to unfair competition and anti-
bribery. The Group is entitled to terminate the agreements 
with distributors or suppliers for their non-compliance with 
the terms of the anti-bribery sub-agreements.

The Group encourages whistle-blowing of suspected 
corruption, fraud or money laundering cases and offers 
rewards to whistle-blower if the case is proved to be 
valid. Whistle-blower can report suspected cases to any 
one of the directors or the head of human resources and 
administration of the Group who will then work with the 
Board and/or our senior management team to carry out 
necessary approaches to investigate and solve these 
cases.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
T h e  G r o u p  h a s  w h i s t l e b l o w i n g  p r o c e d u r e s 
(“Whistleblowing Policy”) sets out for dealing with 
allegations of illegal, unethical and improper conduct in the 
workplace. Whistleblowing Policy is intended to provide 
a means of making serious allegations about standards, 
conduct, financial irregularity or possible unlawful action 
in a way that will ensure confidentiality and protect those 
making such allegations in the reasonable belief that 
it is right to do so from being victimized, discriminated 
against or disadvantaged. Whistleblowing Policy applies 
to all employees and business partners of the Group. 
The identity of the whistleblower will be treated with strict 
confidence.

Whistleblowing Policy is not designed to question financial 
or business decisions undertaken by the management, nor 
should it be used to reconsider any other matters which 
have been already addressed under other procedures. 
Whistleblowing Policy does not replace other complaints 
procedures.

Anonymous allegation
The Group encourages whistleblowers to put their 
name to an allegation wherever possible as anonymous 
allegations may often be difficult to substantiate/prove. 
Allegations made anonymously are much less powerful but 
anonymous allegations will be considered at the discretion 
of the Audit Committee or the Board. In exercising 
discretion to accept an anonymous allegation the factors 
to be taken into account:

• the seriousness of the issue raised;

• the credibility of the allegation; and

• whether  the a l legat ion can rea l is t ica l ly  be 
investigated from factors or sources other than the 
complainant.

舉報政策

• 

• 

• 
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Untrue Allegations
No disciplinary or other action will be taken against a 
whistleblower who makes an allegation in the reasonable 
belief that it is a right thing to do even if the allegation is 
not substantiated by an investigation. However, disciplinary 
action may be taken against a whistleblower who makes 
an allegation without reasonable belief that it is true and 
in the interest of the Group (e.g. making an allegation 
frivolously, maliciously or for personal gain where there is 
no element of public interest).

Procedure for Making an Allegation
It is preferable for allegations to be made to an employee’s 
immediate manager to whom they report. However, this 
may depend on the seriousness and sensitivity of the 
issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice. 
The whistleblower may make an allegation direct to the 
chairman of Audit Committee or to the Chairman. Persons 
making a report should exercise due care in ensuring 
accuracy of the information they report. If the report 
concerns the chairman of Audit Committee or a member 
of Audit Committee, the whistleblower should raise his 
concerns to the Chairman. If the report concerns the 
Chairman, the person should raise his concerns to the 
chairman of Audit Committee.

Action on receipt of an Allegation
The Audit Committee or the Board will appoint a team 
to record and investigate details of the allegation. If the 
allegation discloses evidence of a criminal offence, it will 
immediately be reported to the Audit Committee or the 
Board and a decision will be made as to whether to inform 
the police.
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The Group accepts that whistleblowers need to be assured 
that the matter has been properly addressed. Thus, 
subject to legal constraints, the Group will inform those 
making allegations of the outcome of any investigation. 
The Board has overall responsibility for the operation of this 
policy and for determining the administrative processes 
to be followed and the format of the records to be kept. 
The Audit Committee will report annually to the Board 
on the operation of the policy and on the whistleblowing 
allegations made during the period covered by the report. 
The report will be in a form which does not identify 
whistleblowers.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Group is committed to a consistent practice of timely, 
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material 
information about the Group. The Group has in place a 
policy on disclosure of inside information which sets out 
the procedures and internal controls for handling and 
dissemination of inside information. Such policy provides 
guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant 
employees of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist 
to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory 
disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate 
internal control and reporting systems to identify and 
assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

• define the requirements of periodic f inancial 
and operational report ing to the Board and 
Company Secretary to enable them to assess 
inside information and make timely disclosures, if 
necessary;

• controls the access to inside information by 
employees on a  need-to-know bas is ,  and 
safeguarding the confidentiality of the inside 
information before it is properly disclosed to public; 
and

• procedures of communicating with the Group’s 
stakeholders, including shareholders, investors, 
analysts, etc. in ways which are in compliance with 
the Listing Rules.

• 

• 

• 
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The Group has also established and implemented 
procedures to handle enquiries from external parties 
related to the market rumours and other Group’s affairs.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the 
dissemination of inside information of the Company shall 
be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the 
Stock Exchange’s website and on the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the memorandum and articles 
of association of the Company during the year ended 31 
December 2024.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Ziming Yang, aged 53, is the founder of the 
Group. He was appointed as an executive Director of 
the Company on 3 November 2011. He has been the 
chairman of the Board of the Company since November 
2011 and the chief executive officer of the Company since 
March 2020. Dr. Yang is primarily responsible for overall 
corporate strategies, planning and business development, 
investor relations and leads the Group’s design and 
research and development team.

Dr. Yang first started his fashion and wholesale of apparel 
business in April 1992. In October 1997, Dr. Yang began 
to design and wholesale Cabbeen branded apparel. Dr. 
Yang has over 20 years of experience in design. He has 
been one of the most famous designers in China, who 
won the award for “Best Menswear Designer”* (

) at the China International Fashion Week* (
) in 2009 and “The 14th China Fashion Design 

Top Award”* ( 14 ), which is the 
top honor in apparel design in China in 2010. Dr. Yang 
was accredited as “2010 Quanzhou Economic Figure” 
(2010 ) and was a member of the 10th 
China Young Entrepreneurs Association (

) in 2010. In 2011, he was the honorable 
president of Shishi Texti le & Garments Commerce 
Chamber’s Council ( ) 
and a committee member of the 11th Committee of All-
China Youth Federation (

). In 2012, Dr. Yang was the first president of the 
Fashion Designers’ Association of Fujian Province* (

) and the honorable president 
of Quanzhou APEC Commerce Chamber’s Council* (

APEC ). In March 2013, Dr. Yang 
became the consulting professor of Beijing Institute of 
Fashion Technology ( ). In April 2014, Fujian 
Normal University ( ) appointed Dr. Yang as 
a guest professor. In addition, Dr. Yang is currently the 
vice president and a member of the standing committee 
and the arts committee of the China Fashion Designers 

楊紫明博士 53

Cabbeen

14
2010

APEC
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Association ( ). Dr. Yang has been 
the vice president of the standing committee of the China 
Garment Association* ( ) since October 2013. 
In April 2013, Dr. Yang was awarded as 2012 Innovative 
person of China textile industry* (2012

) by The Association of China Textile Industry* 
( ). In 2015, Dr. Yang was awarded 
the “New China Annual Award for Artistic Innovation”* (

) by the China Fashion Designers 
Association and New China Clothing Industry Innovation 
& Development Fund* ( ). 
Since August 2019, Dr. Yang has been a consultant for 
the Guangdong branch of the China Fashion Designers 
Association. He also participated in the design and 
production of the apparel used for the civilian parade held 
during the 70th anniversary of the People’s Republic of 
China. In 2020, Dr. Yang was awarded as 2020 Best of 
the Best Designer of the Year* ( 2020

), and awarded as Outstanding Individual in National 
Textile and Apparel Industry for Fighting Novel Coronavirus 
Epidemic* ( ) by 
China National Textile and Apparel Council* (

). In the same year, he served as the anti-drug 
ambassador for Shishi city. In 2021, Dr. Yang was invited 
to be the chief costume designer of the “Long March-
5B Y2” and “Long March-7 Y3” rocket launch team, and 
became an honorary team member. Since February 2022, 
Dr. Yang has been serving as the chairman of the Shishi 
Industrial and Commercial Commission* (

) and the president of the Shishi General Chamber of 
Commerce*( ).

Dr. Yang received his EMBA from Sun Yat-Sen University 
( ) in June 2011 and obtained his doctor’s degree 
of business administration from Singapore Management 
University ( ) in June 2024. Dr. Yang is the 
brother-in-law of Mr. Rongqin Ke who is also our executive 
Director.

2012

70

2020

B

EMBA
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Mr. Rongqin Ke, aged 50, is one of the founding 
members of the Group and has been an executive Director 
of the Company since 18 February 2013. Mr. Rongqin 
Ke is primarily responsible for supply chain and financial 
management. Mr. Ke has over 20 years of experience in 
various aspects, including manufacturing, product design 
and research and development and procurement.

Mr. Ke obtained his diploma certificate in business 
administration from Hunan University of Technology (

) in January 2008. Mr. Ke was accredited as 
“2011-2012 Top Ten Professional Managers of Apparel 
Industry in Guangdong Province”* (2011-2012

) in August 2012. He completed 
the EMBA program at Lingnan College of Sun Yat-Sen 
University ( ) in June 2013.

Mr. Rongqin Ke is the brother-in-law of Dr. Ziming Yang.

柯榕欽先生 50

2011-2012

EMBA



66

Cabbeen Fashion Limited    Annual Report 2024

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui, aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director and was appointed to the Board 
on 18 February 2013. Mr. Tsui has over 30 years of 
extensive experience in auditing and accounting, including 
experience from corporations and an international 
accounting firm. Mr. Tsui joined Ju Teng International 
Holdings Limited ( ) (stock code: 
3336) in August 2004 and has been the company’s 
executive director and chief financial officer since its 
listing in the Stock Exchange and served as the company 
secretary from August 2004 to March 2017.

He has also been an independent non-executive director 
of Shenguan Holdings (Group) Limited ( ( )

) (stock code: 829) since September 2009 and 
Intron Technology Holdings Limited (

) (stock code: 1760) since June 2018, respectively, 
both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsui 
was also an independent non-executive director of 361 
Degrees International Limited (361 ) (stock 
code: 1361) from September 2012 to May 2019 and SITC 
International Holdings Company Limited (

) (stock code: 1308) from September 2010 to 
December 2020.

Mr. Tsui obtained his bachelor’s degree of business in 
accounting from Curtin University of Technology in August 
1992 and his master’s degree of corporate governance 
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 
2007. Mr. Tsui has been a member of Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants since February 1997, a 
member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New 
Zealand since June 2000, and a member of CPA Australia 
since September 1996. He has also been a member of 
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute since 
December 2007.

徐容國先生 56
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Mr. Ming Shu Leung, aged 49, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director on 18 February 2013. 
Since April 2021, Mr. Leung has been serving as group 
chief financial officer, a member of strategy committee of 
58.com Inc. and Managing Partner of 58 Industrial Fund (58

), where he is mainly responsible for overseeing 
overal l  f inancial and legal functions and strategic 
investment of 58.com Inc.

Mr. Leung has been an independent non-executive director 
of Sun.King Technology Group Limited (

) (stock code: 580) since March 2017, Renrui Human 
Resources Technology Holdings Limited (

) (stock code: 6919) since November 2019, 
Infinities Technology International (Cayman) Holding Limited 
( ( ) )(stock code: 1961) 
since May 2022, and Gala Technology Holding Limited (

) (stock code: 2458) since January 
2023, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. 
Leung has also been a non-executive director of Gogox 
Holdings Limited ( ) (stock code: 
2246) since August 2021, which is listed on the Stock 
Exchange.

From January 2013 to January 2017, he served as chief 
financial officer of Visual China Group ( ( )

), a company listed on the Main Board of the 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000681). Since 
2017, he has been serving as a founding and managing 
partner at Harmony Capital, a family office PE fund with 
a focus on internet and consumer sectors in China. From 
January 2008 to December 2012, he served as the CFO 
of China ITS (Holdings) Co., Ltd. ( (

) ), a company listed on the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 01900). From February 2003 to March 
2006, he served as a senior manager in the mergers and 
acquisitions department and subsequently as CFO at CDC 
Corporation, a company formerly listed on the NASDAQ. 
From October 1999 to December 2000, he served as 
a senior consultant at Arthur Andersen & Co. From 
September 1998 to August 1999, he served as an auditor 
at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

梁銘樞先生 49

58
58

58

580
6919

1961
2458

2246

000681

01900

CDC Corporation



68

Cabbeen Fashion Limited    Annual Report 2024

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Leung has been a fellow member of Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow member of 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
since February 2007 and June 2010, respectively. Mr. 
Leung obtained a First-Class Honor bachelor’s degree 
in accounting from the City University of Hong Kong in 
November 1998 and a master’s degree in accounting from 
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2001.

Ms. Jing Gu, aged 54, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 28 April 2023. She has over 
30 years of experience in the field of corporate branding 
strategies. Ms. Gu has been a founder and the chief 
executive officer of Beijing Baiyue Culture Development 
Co., Ltd.* ( ) since March 2014, 
which operates a celebrity club founded consisting of more 
than 100 domestic elite leaders from various industries.

Ms. Gu served as the vice president of Jaguar Land Rover 
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. ( ( ) ) 
in China from October 2010 to March 2014, the director of 
public relation department of BMW Brilliance Automotive 
Ltd. ( ) from September 2008 to 
October 2010, the public relation manager of the corporate 
public relation department and digital imaging department 
of Kodak (China) Investment Co., Ltd. ( ( )

) in Greater China from June 2003 to September 
2008, and the manager of marketing communication 
department of Ericsson (China) Co., Ltd.* ( ( )

) from January 1998 to June 2003.

Ms. Gu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese 
language and literature from Liaoning Normal University 
( ) in 1993 and completed the business 
leadership management program at Guanghua School of 
Management, Peking University ( ) in 2017.

谷晶女士 54

30
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TENURE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS
Two of the three independent non-executive Directors 
have served the Company for more than nine years. The 
lengths of their tenure as of the date of this report are set 
out below:

Name Date of appointment Length of tenure
姓名 獲委任日期 任期

Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui 18 February 2013 12 years

Mr. Ming Shu Leung 18 February 2013 12 years

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Wai Fung Lui, aged 43, was appointed as the 
chief financial officer and the company secretary of the 
Company in April 2024. Mr. Lui has over 20 years of 
experience in assurance services, financial management 
and company secretarial works. Prior to joining the 
Company, he worked in international assurance firms and 
several companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lui obtained his bachelor’s degree in Accountancy 
from the City University of Hong Kong in 2004 and his 
master’s degree in Corporate Governance from the 
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2016. He is a fellow 
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong 
Chartered Governance Institute and an associate member 
of The Chartered Governance Institute.

 

雷偉峯先生 43

20

* donates an English translation of the Chinese name for 

identification purpose only.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together 
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands 
and is domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office 
at Unit A&B, 26/F, Billion Plaza II, 10 Cheung Yue Street, 
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Group’s 
principal place of business is in the PRC.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Group are wholesaling and 
retailing of branded menswear, womenswear and related 
accessories in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of 
the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 14 
to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, aggregate 
sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers of 
apparel products accounted for 13.2% (2023: 5.1%) and 
28.2% (2023: 19.4%), respectively, of the Group’s total 
revenue for the year.

Aggregate purchases from the Group’s largest and five 
largest suppliers of apparel products accounted for 5.9% 
(2023: 11.3%) and 26.9% (2023: 38.3%), respectively, of 
the Group’s total purchases from suppliers during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close 
associates or any shareholder of the Company (who or 
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 
5% of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding 
treasury shares)) had any interest in the Group’s five largest 
customers and suppliers.

10 26 A B

14

13.2%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the latest five financial years is set out on 
page 220 of this annual report. This summary does not 
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group 
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 101 to 219 of this annual report.

RESERVES
Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the 
Group are set out in note 25 to the financial statements 
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, 
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s reserves available 
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated 
and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to 
approximately RMB25.3 million.

DIVIDEND
On 9 August 2024, the Company declared an interim 
dividend of HK$0.93 cents (2023: HK$0.70 cents) per 
ordinary share for the six months ended 30 June 2024. 
The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend 
of HK$0.86 cents (2023: HK$0.70 cents) per ordinary 
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024.

220

101 219

25
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year 
amounted to RMB0.3 million (2023: RMB0.3 million).

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Details of acquisitions and other movements of non-
current assets (including investment properties, property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets) are set out in 
notes 10, 11 and 12 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at  
31 December 2024 are set out in note 20 to the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company 
during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial 
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreement was 
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 
December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business overview and financial performance
The review of the Group’s business and f inancial 
performance during the year ended 31 December 2024 
and an indication of likely future developments in the 
Group’s business are provided in the sections headed 
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion 
and Analysis” in this annual report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
A number of factors may affect the results and business 
operations of the Group, some of which are inherent to 
fashion business and some are from external sources. 
Major risks are summarized below.

0.3
0.3
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20

25



73

卡賓服 飾有限公司      2024年報

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(i) Fashion risk
Our success depends on our ability to define 
products trends and anticipate, gauge and react to 
changing consumer demands in a timely manner. 
Failure to anticipate and respond timely to changing 
consumer preferences could lead to lower sales 
and excess inventory levels. With respect to each 
design concept, it is important to have the right 
volume of stocks and strike the right balance in the 
mix between fashion basics and the latest trends. 
To track the acceptance of our fashion concept 
in the market closely, we introduce products in 
different batches throughout the season and will 
further shorten the product development cycle in 
order to reduce the lead time between production 
and delivery to customers. In addition, shopping 
patterns and the length of product seasons can vary 
in different parts of mainland China. Fashion designs 
which are popular in one province of mainland China 
at a given time may not be as popular in another 
local market.

(ii) Intense competition
We compete not only with local Chinese apparel 
brands, but also with other international fashion 
brands. Areas of competition include product 
designs, production costs, marketing programs, 
customer services. If we do not respond timely to 
our competitors, our costs may increase or the 
consumer demand for our products may decline 
and our revenue and profits would decrease.

(i) 

(ii) 
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(iii) Macroeconomic and social environment
The risk exists that negative macroeconomic 
changes may result in negative changes in the 
business environment. Fashion products may be 
considered as discretionary items for customers. 
Slower consumer spending may result in reduced 
demand for our products, reduced orders from our 
distributors, order cancellations, higher discounts, 
increased inventories, lower revenue and margins. It 
is therefore important that the Group is aware of any 
such changes of economic environment and adjusts 
its store opening plan, buying volume and business 
plan under different market conditions.

In addition, if any event which materially and 
adversely affect the social environment of the 
markets where we operate arises, such as the 
outbreak of novel coronavirus in the PRC in January 
2020, such event may cause a significant impact on 
our ability to operate business in a normal manner. 
Such event may cause disruptions to our normal 
business activities, manufacturing of products by us 
and/or our suppliers, logistics involved in distributing 
our products, among other aspects of our business. 
The Group’s operating results and financial condition 
may be materially and adversely affected as a result.

(iii) 
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(iv) Supply chain
We operate manufacturing facilities in Fujian, the 
PRC for producing some of our core products. We 
still depend upon independent manufacturers to 
produce majority of our products and materials. Any 
disruption in the supply of fabric, raw materials and 
products from suppliers may cause problems in 
our supply chain. We have no long-term contracts 
with any of our suppliers and we may need to 
compete with other companies for fabrics, raw 
materials and apparel products. Nevertheless, we 
have developed long-standing relationships with a 
number of our vendors so as to minimize the impact 
from any supply disruptions and ensure we can 
locate alternative suppliers of comparable quality 
at a reasonable price all the time. For the year 
ended 31 December 2024, 26.9% (2023: 38.3%) 
of our products were produced by our top five 
suppliers and we have at least three years’ business 
relationship with these suppliers.

(v) Financial conditions of our distributors
We extend credit to our distributors based on as 
assessments of their financial conditions, repayment 
history and sales performance of the retail outlets 
operated by them, generally without requiring 
collateral. To assist in the scheduling of production 
of our products, our customers could place orders 
four to five months ahead of delivery under our 
sales fair ordering system. These advance orders 
may be cancelled and the risk of cancellation may 
increase when dealing with distributors struggling 
with financial difficulties. A slowing economy could 
also adversely affect the financial conditions of our 
customers, which in turn could have an adverse 
effect on our results of operation. In addition, 
product sales are dependent in part on an appealing 
store environment to attract consumers, which 
requires continuing investments by distributors. 
Distributors that experience financial difficulties may 
fail to make such investments and result in lower 
sales and orders for our products.

(iv) 

26.9%
38.3%

(v) 
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(vi) Information system
We are dependent on information technology 
systems and networks, including the internet and 
third-party hosted services across many of our 
operating activities, including sales and distribution, 
ordering and purchases, sales and distribution, 
inventory management in a l l  reta i l  out lets, 
e-commerce business, customer relationship 
management, digital marketing and financial 
reporting. Any material disruption or slowdown of 
our IT systems, including a disruption or slowdown 
caused by our failure to successfully upgrade our 
systems, system failures, viruses or cyber attacks 
could cause a loss of data or operation interruption. 
Therefore, we invest continuously in our IT and 
ERP system so as to keep up with the technology 
security and availability and integrity of critical 
operation data.

(vii) Reputational risk
Cabbeen is one of the leading Chinese fashion 
designer brands and our success depends on our 
ability to maintain and enhance our brand image and 
reputation. Maintaining and promoting our brands 
will depend on our product design, marketing 
efforts and product quality. In addition, effect of our 
marketing activities depends on our ability to adapt 
to the rapid changing media environment, including 
social media and online advertising campaigns. 
Should existing and potential customers lose 
confidence in Cabbeen/or one of its brands, or 
in the industry in general, because of negative 
publicity, the Group’s sales would decrease. To 
safeguard and manage the brand, it is important 
that the Group continues to uphold its brand value, 
corporate image, product safety and maintain high 
business ethics. In addition, it is also important that 
communication with our shareholders, customers 
and other stakeholders is accurate, transparent and 
reliable.

(viii) Weather
Extreme weather conditions in the areas in which 
our retail stores, suppliers and customers are 
located could adversely affect our operating results 
and financial condition.

(vi) 

ERP

(vii) 

(viii) 
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Key Relationships
(i) Employees

To remain competitive in the retail apparel industry, 
we must attract, develop, and retain ski l led 
employees in our design, merchandising, supply 
chain, marketing, and other functions.

We strive to motivate employees with a clear 
career path and opportunities for advancement 
and improvement of their ski l ls. We provide 
pre-employment and on-the-job training and 
development opportunities to our staff members. 
The training programs cover areas such as 
managerial skills, sales and production, customer 
services, quality control, sales fairs planning, 
workplace ethics and training of other areas relevant 
to the industry.

We conduct employee engagement survey across 
its Hong Kong and mainland China operations once 
a year. We seriously consider all those valuable 
feedback from our employees for enhancing 
workplace productivity and harmony.

In addition, we offer competitive remuneration 
packages and year-end performance bonus to 
employees to recognize and reward the contribution 
of the employees to the growth and development of 
the Group.

(ii) Suppliers
We have developed long-standing relationships 
with a number of our vendors and take great care 
to ensure that they share our commitment to 
quality and ethics. We carefully select our suppliers 
and require them to satisfy certain assessment 
criteria including track record, experience, financial 
strength, reputation, ability to produce high-quality 
products and quality control effectiveness. We also 
require our suppliers to comply with our anti-bribery 
policy.

(i) 

(ii) 
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(iii) Distributors
We sell our products to end customers mainly 
through third-party distributors. We work with 
our distributors like we are business partners and 
ensure we share the view for upholding our brand 
value and customer services, specifically focusing 
on attracting and retaining customers in order to 
drive sales growth. We and our distributors reach an 
agreement on retail sales target and store expansion 
plan before they place their orders. We require 
our distributors and sub-distributors to comply 
with our retail policies, including but not limited to 
nationwide product retail selling price, standard 
store images, promotional activities and use of our 
ERP system. We also monitor the financial condition 
and repayment history of our distributors, and retail 
sales performance of the stores operated by them.

(iv) Customers
We are committed to offer a broad and diverse 
range of inspiring, value-for money, good-quality 
fashion with our various brands to our customers. 
We also stay connected with our customers. We 
maintain our VIP database and have ongoing 
communications with our customers mainly through 
social media. We also work with our distributors 
and provide training to their key sales personnel to 
provide quality and value-added customer services 
at retail channel.

Environmental Policies
We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly 
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural 
resources. We strive to minimize our environmental impact 
by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office 
supplies and other materials. We also require our own 
factory and factories of our suppliers to operate in strict 
compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and 
rules and possess all necessary permission and approval 
from the relevant Chinese regulators.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
During the year ended 31 December 2024, as far as the 
Group is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the 
Group that has a significant impact on the business and 
operations of the Group.

(iii) 

ERP

(iv) 

VIP
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of 
the Company as at the date of this annual report, the 
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under 
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 
2024 and at any time up to the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under 
the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the 
Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF 
LISTED SECURITIES
The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption 
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of 
the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had 
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities 
or treasury shares during the year ended 31 December 
2024.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this 
report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ziming Yang (Chairman)
Mr. Rongqin Ke

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui
Mr. Ming Shu Leung
Ms. Jing Gu
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Each of the executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company has entered into a 
service contract with the Company for a term of three 
years subject to his/her retirement and re-election at 
the AGM in accordance with the Company’s articles 
of association. The details of the remuneration of each 
of the Directors are revealed on note 7 to the financial 
statements.

Details of the Directors’ biographies have been set out 
on pages 63 to 69 of this annual report. In accordance 
with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, 
Dr. Ziming Yang and Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui will retire from 
the Board by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group 
which is not determinable by the Company or any of 
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the independent 
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules 
and considers all the independent non-executive Directors 
to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an 
entity connected with the Director had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
year or at any time during the year.

7

63 69
84

3.13
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE 
SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year ended 
31 December 2024 were rights to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of 
the Company granted to any Director of the Company or 
their respective spouses or minor children, or were such 
rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding 
company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries 
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, 
or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No cont racts  concern ing the management  and 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Group were entered into or in existence 
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH 
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
There had been no contract of significance (i) between 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling 
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries or (ii) for the provision 
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a 
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors of the Company had any interest 
in any business, which competes or is likely to compete, 
either directly or indirectly, with the Company or any of 
its subsidiaries during the year. Each of the Controlling 
Shareholders has complied with the non-compete 
undertaking given by them to the Company under the 
Deed of Non-competition on 8 October 2013. The 
independent non-executive Directors of the Company 
have reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement 
of the Deed of Non-competition and confirmed that all the 
undertakings thereunder have been complied with during 
the year ended 31 December 2024.

 

 

(i)

(ii)
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, 
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and 
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them 
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their 
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in 
force throughout the year. The Company has arranged 
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS 
IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions 
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company 
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), 
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to the Model Code contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing 
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the Company

Name of director
Number of 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage 

of shares 
in issue(4)

董事姓名 所持有股份數目
佔已發行股份
概約百分比 (4)

Dr. Ziming Yang(1)(2)(3) (1)(2)(3) 452,383,209 67.66%
Mr. Rongqin Ke 9,691,000 1.45%

(1) Acute Result, Ascend Fame and Prime Ascend are wholly-

owned and controlled by Dr. Ziming Yang and Dr. Ziming Yang 

is therefore deemed to be interested in all the shares of the 

Company in which Acute Result, Ascend Fame and Prime 

Ascend are interested.

 

證券及期貨條例 XV

352
C3

(1) 
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(2) Multiplus International Limited (“Multiplus”) is owned as to 

99% by Ms. Liting Ke and 1% by Dr. Ziming Yang. By virtue of 

a shareholders’ agreement dated 31 July 2012 by and between 

Ms. Liting Ke and Dr. Ziming Yang, in addition to the voting right 

attached to the share Dr. Ziming Yang holds in Multiplus, he also 

has the right to control the exercise of the voting rights attached 

to all the shares in Multiplus held by Ms. Liting Ke. Accordingly, 

Dr. Ziming Yang is deemed to be interested in all the shares of 

the Company in which Multiplus is interested.

(3) Dr. Ziming Yang is the spouse of Ms. Liting Ke. Accordingly,  

Dr. Ziming Yang is deemed to be interested in all the shares of 

the Company  in which Ms. Liting Ke is interested.

(4) Based on a total of 668,593,000 issued shares of the Company 

as at 31 December 2024.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none 
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company 
and their respective associates had any interests and short 
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded 
in the register of the Company required to be kept under 
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code.

(2) 豐衡
99% 1%

(3) 

(4) 

668,593,000

XV

352
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I N T E R E S T S  A N D  S H O R T  P O S I T I O N S  O F 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2024, the persons or corporations 
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) 
who had an interest or short position in the shares and 
underlying shares of the Company which were required 
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of 
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were 
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 
336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature of interest
Number of 

Shares

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding 

interest(4)

姓名╱名稱 身份╱權益性質 股份數目
持股權概約
百分比 (4)

Ms. Liting Ke(1)(2)(3) Interest in a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse 452,383,209 67.66%
(1)(2)(3)

Acute Result(2) Beneficial owner 289,633,209 43.32%
(2)

Ascend Fame(2) Beneficial owner 52,500,000 7.85%
(2)

Multiplus(3) Beneficial owner 78,750,000 11.78%
(3)

(1) Ms. Liting Ke is the spouse of Dr. Ziming Yang. Accordingly, 

Ms. Liting Ke is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the 

Company in which Dr. Ziming Yang is interested.

(2) Acute Result, Ascend Fame and Prime Ascend are wholly-

owned and controlled by Dr. Ziming Yang and Dr. Ziming Yang 

is therefore deemed to be interested in all the shares of the 

Company in which Acute Result, Ascend Fame and Prime 

Ascend are interested.

(3) Multiplus is owned as to 99% by Ms. Liting Ke and 1% by Dr. 

Ziming Yang. By virtue of a shareholders’ agreement dated 31 

July 2012 by and between Ms. Liting Ke and Dr. Ziming Yang, in 

addition to the voting right attached to the share Dr. Ziming Yang 

holds in Multiplus, he also has the right to control the exercise 

of the voting rights attached to all the shares in Multiplus held 

by Ms. Liting Ke. Accordingly, Dr. Ziming Yang is deemed to be 

interested in all the shares of the Company in which Multiplus is 

interested.

(4) Based on a total of 668,593,000 issued shares of the Company 

as at 31 December 2024.

 

XV 2 3
336

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 99%

1%

(4) 

668,593,000
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, 
the Directors were not aware of any other person or 
corporation having an interest or short position in shares 
and underlying shares of the Company which were 
required to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or 
which were recorded in the register required to be kept 
under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE SCHEMES
As of 31 December 2024, the Company has not adopted 
any share scheme (as defined under Chapter 17 of the 
Listing Rules) and no share scheme of the Company has 
been in effect. The Company has not granted any share 
options or share awards under any share scheme during 
the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out 
in note 28 to the financial statements. The Board confirms 
that the Company has complied with the applicable 
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules (if any).

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
The Group participates in defined contribution retirement 
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and 
provincial government authorities for the Group’s eligible 
employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory 
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. 
Particulars of these retirement plans are set out in note 23 
to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events after the reporting period 
of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2024, save as disclosed 
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 62 of 
this annual report, all the code provisions set out in the CG 
Code were met by the Company.

XV 2 3
336

17

28
14A

23

31 62
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AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2024 have been audited by KPMG, who 
shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of 
KPMG as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 
forthcoming AGM.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 were approved by the 
Board on 7 March 2025.

By order of the Board

Dr. Ziming Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2025

楊紫明博士
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Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Cabbeen Fashion Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Cabbeen Fashion Limited (“the company”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the group”) set out on pages 101 to 219, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 
ended and notes comprising material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

獨立核數師報告
致卡賓服飾有限公司股東

101 219
貴公司 貴集團

國際會計準則理事會 IFRS
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BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

香港會計師公
會 香港核數準則

守則
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Revenue recognition
收益確認

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 148 to 152.
2 148 152

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

Revenue principally comprises sales of apparel 
goods to distributors and via consignees.

Each year, the group enters into a framework 
distr ibut ion agreement or a consignment 
agreement with each distributor or consignee 
and manufactures and sells its products in 
accordance with the terms of separate purchase 
orders.

For sales to distributors, once the products are 
collected from the designated warehouse by the 
distributor, the control of the goods is considered 
to have been transferred to the distributor and 
revenue is recognised at that point.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of 
revenue included the following:

• assessing the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of management’s key 
internal controls over revenue recognition;

• inspecting agreements with distributors and 
consignees, on a sample basis, to understand 
the terms of the sales transactions including 
the terms of  de l ivery  and acceptance, 
applicable rebates arrangements and any sales 
return arrangements to assess the group’s 
revenue recognition criteria with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards;
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Revenue recognition
收益確認

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 148 to 152.
2 148 152

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

For sales via consignees, once the products are 
sold to end users by the consignee, the control of 
the goods is considered to have been transferred 
to the consignee and revenue is recognised at 
that point. The group receives confirmations 
from consignees on a monthly basis of both the 
transaction amounts and balances due to the 
group.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key 
audit matter because revenue is one of the key 
performance indicators of the group and because 
there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the 
timing of recognition of revenue by management 
to meet specific targets or expectations.

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether 
revenue transactions recorded during the 
financial year had been recognised in the 
appropriate financial period by comparing the 
transactions selected with relevant underlying 
documentation, including goods delivery notes 
or monthly confirmations from consignees and 
the terms of sale as set out in the distribution or 
consignment agreements;

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether 
specific revenue transactions around the 
financial year end had been recognised in the 
appropriate financial period by comparing the 
transactions selected with relevant underlying 
documentation, including goods delivery notes 
or monthly confirmations from consignees and 
the terms of sale as set out in the distribution or 
consignment agreements;
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Revenue recognition
收益確認

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 148 to 152.
2 148 152

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether sales 
rebates during the financial year had been 
recognised in the appropriate financial period 
by reconciling the movements in sales rebates 
accruals, recalculating the sales rebates 
recognised during the financial year on the 
basis of the terms as set out in the distribution 
or consignment agreements and comparing 
sales rebates payments during the financial 
year to confirmations from distributors or 
consignees and other relevant underlying 
documentation;

• identifying significant credit notes issued and 
sales returns from the sales ledger after the 
financial year end and inspecting relevant 
underlying documentation to assess if the 
related revenue had been accounted for in the 
appropriate financial period in accordance with 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards;



92

Cabbeen Fashion Limited    Annual Report 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition
收益確認

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 148 to 152.
2 148 152

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

• inspecting significant manual adjustments 
to revenue dur ing the report ing per iod, 
enquiring of management as to the reasons 
for such adjustments and comparing details 
of the adjustments with relevant underlying 
documentation.
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Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables
貿易應收款項的預期信貸虧損撥備

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 130 to 
136, and page 141.

17 130 136 141

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
審核中的處理方法

As at 31 December 2024, the group’s gross trade 
receivables arose from sales of apparel goods 
amounted to RMB840,199,000, against which 
an allowance of RMB167,014,000 for expected 
credit losses (ECLs) was recorded.

840,199,000
167,014,000

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 
ref lected management’s best est imate to 
determine the expected credit losses. For 
trade receivables that do not share same 
risk characteristics with others, management 
assessed their expected credit losses on an 
individual basis. For trade receivables that 
share same risk characteristics with others, 
management calculated the expected credit 
losses mainly using the expected credit risk 
model. The model measures the loss allowance 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs of the trade 
receivables based on estimated loss rates for 
each category of trade receivables grouped 
according to shared credit risk characteristics. 
The estimated loss rates take into account 
the ageing of trade receivable balances, the 
repayment history of the group’s customers, 
current market conditions, and forward-looking 
information. Such assessment involves significant 
management judgement and estimation.

Our audit procedures to assess the expected credit 
loss allowance for trade receivables included the 
following:

• evaluating the group’s policy for estimating 
the credit loss allowance with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standard;

• understood management’s rationale for 
distinguishing individual impaired and grouped 
impaired trade receivables, and assessed the 
reasonableness based on the credit risk drivers;

• 

• for individual impaired trade receivables, 
evaluated the appropriateness of the 
judgements used by management based 
on the examination of the historical payment 
documentation or checking the financial 
position and creditworthiness of customers;

• 
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Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables
貿易應收款項的預期信貸虧損撥備

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 130 to 
136, and page 141.

17 130 136 141

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
審核中的處理方法

We identified the expected credit loss allowance 
for trade receivables as a key audit matter 
because determining the level of the loss 
allowance requires the exercise of significant 
management judgement, which is inherently 
subjective.

• for grouped impaired trade receivables, (1) 
obtaining an understanding on the key data and 
assumptions of the expected credit loss model 
adopted by the group, including the historical 
default data and management’s estimated loss 
rate; (2) assessing the appropriateness of the 
group’s estimates of loss allowances by examining 
the information used by management to derive 
such estimates, including testing the accuracy 
of the historical default data, evaluating whether 
the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted 
based on current market conditions and forward-
looking information, and assessing, on a sample 
basis, whether items in the trade receivables 
ageing reports were classified in the appropriate 
ageing category by comparing individual items 
therein with relevant underlying documentation, 
including goods delivery notes or monthly 
confirmations from consignees; and

(1)

(2)

• re-performing the calculation of the loss 
allowance as at 31 December 2024 based on 
the group’s ECL allowance policies.
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Valuation of inventories
存貨估值

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 140.
16 140

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can 
be volatile with consumer demand changing 
according to current fashion trends.

The group typically sells or disposes of off-season 
inventories at a markdown from the original price 
to make room for new season inventories in 
its stores. Accordingly, the actual future selling 
prices of some inventories may fall below their 
purchase costs.

Management considers several factors in 
determining the appropriate level of inventory 
provisions, including inventory ageing, historical 
rates of sales at normal price levels and at 
markdown prices, and the channels available for 
selling off-season inventories.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of 
inventories included the following:

• assessing whether the inventory provisions at 
the reporting date were calculated in a manner 
consistent with the group’s inventory provision 
policy by recalculating the inventory provisions 
based on percentages and other parameters 
in the group’s inventory provision policy and 
considering the application of the group’s 
inventory provision policy with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards;

• assessing, on a sample basis, whether items 
in the inventory ageing report were classified 
within the appropriate ageing bracket by 
comparing the barcode tags for the inventory 
i tems se lected wi th  re levant  purchase 
documents;

• performing a retrospective review by comparing 
the carrying values of inventories as at 31 
December 2023 with sales prices achieved 
during the current year, to assess the reliability 
of management’s write-down and provisioning 
process;
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Valuation of inventories
存貨估值

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 140.
16 140

The Key Audit Matter
關鍵審核事項

How the matter was addressed in our audit
在審核中的處理方法

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key 
audit matter because of the significant judgement 
exercised by management in determining the 
appropriate levels of inventory provisions which 
involves predicting the amounts of inventories 
which will be unsold at the end of each season 
and the markdowns necessary to sell such off-
season inventories on a discounted basis through 
outlets and other channels in future years. Both 
of these factors can be inherently uncertain and 
could be subject to management bias.

• evaluating the group’s inventory provision policy 
by comparing management’s expectation of 
the amounts of inventories which are unlikely 
to be sold in the foreseeable future at current 
prices and the corresponding expectation of 
markdowns with historical sales amounts and 
markdown data for the current and prior years 
provided by management; and

• enquiring of the management and senior 
members of the sales team about any expected 
changes in plans for markdowns or disposals 
of off-season inventories and comparing the 
carrying value of inventories to actual prices for 
sales transactions subsequent to the reporting 
date on a sample basis.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT 
THEREON
The directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises all the information included 
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibil ity is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

 

 

IFRS
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The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in 
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the group’s 
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

• 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain suff icient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence and, where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated wi th the Audi t 
Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditor’s report is Cheng Chu Fai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

7 March 2025

畢馬威會計師事務所
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Revenue 收益 2 1,035,008 1,188,648

Cost of sales (572,694) (677,018)
     

Gross profit 毛利 462,314 511,630

Other net income 4 47,444 49,783

Selling and distribution  
expenses (197,649) (245,239)

Administrative and other 
operating expenses (222,526) (227,481)

     

Profit from operations 經營溢利 89,583 88,693

Finance costs 5(a) (13,070) (18,652)

Share of loss of an associate (9,847) (5,527)
     

Profit before taxation 除稅前溢利 5 66,666 64,514

Income tax 6(a) (37,773) (37,111)
     

Profit for the year 年內溢利 28,893 27,403

Attributable to: 以下各方應佔：
Equity shareholders of 

the Company 27,415 20,813
Non-controlling interests 1,478 6,590
     

Profit for the year 年內溢利 28,893 27,403
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Other comprehensive  
income for the year

年內其他全面收益

Item that are or may  
be reclassified subsequently  
to profit or loss:

 

– Exchange differences on  
translation of the financial  
statements of operations 
outside the Mainland  
China

–  
 

(332) (1,013)
     

Total comprehensive  
income for the year

年內全面收益總額
28,561 26,390

Attributable to: 以下各方應佔：
Equity shareholders of 

the Company 27,083 19,800
Non-controlling interests 1,478 6,590
     

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

年內全面收益總額
28,561 26,390

Earnings per share 
(RMB cents)

每股盈利（人民幣分）
9

Basic 4.10 3.11
     

Diluted 4.10 3.11
     

The notes on pages 108 to 219 form part of these 
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity 
shareholders of the company are set out in note 25(b).

108 219

25(b)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Non-current assets 非流動資產

Investment properties 10 63,119 100,993
Property, plant and 

equipment 11 261,784 284,261
Intangible assets 12 24,519 29,098
Interest in an associate 13 95,713 104,833
Deferred tax assets 15(b) 102,069 89,935
     

547,204 609,120
     

Current assets 流動資產

Inventories 16 286,275 293,778
Trade and other receivables 17 745,679 806,525
Deposits with banks with  

original maturity date  
over three months

 

237,224 248,384
Pledged bank deposits 18 38,460 68,202
Cash and cash equivalents 19 238,810 200,265
     

1,546,448 1,617,154
     

Current liabilities 流動負債

Bank borrowings 20 218,603 336,638
Trade and other payables 21 449,058 490,481
Contract liabilities 9,826 1,740
Current taxation 15(a) 48,961 30,819
Lease Liabilities 22 11,064 17,012
     

737,512 876,690
     

Net current assets 流動資產淨值 808,936 740,464
     

Total assets less current  
liabilities

資產總值減流動負債
1,356,140 1,349,584

Non-current liabilities 非流動負債
Bank borrowings 20 7,000 –
Lease liabilities 22 4,685 15,825
     

11,685 15,825
     

NET ASSETS 資產淨值 1,344,455 1,333,759
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 資本及儲備 25

Share capital 5,214 5,214
Reserves 1,330,446 1,313,331
     

Total equity attributable  
to equity shareholders  
of the Company

本公司權益股東 
應佔總權益

1,335,660 1,318,545

Non-controlling interests 非控股權益 8,795 15,214
     

TOTAL EQUITY 總權益 1,344,455 1,333,759
     

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 7 March 2025.

 Dr. Ziming Yang Mr. Rongqin Ke
 楊紫明博士 柯榕欽先生
 Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director Executive Director
  

The notes on pages 108 to 219 form part of these financial 
statements.

108 219
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
本公司權益股東應佔

        

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Capital 

reserves
Statutory 

reserve
Exchange 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling  

interests Total

股本 股份溢價
資本

贖回儲備 資本儲備 法定儲備 匯兌儲備 保留溢利 總計
非控股
權益 總計

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2022 and 
As at 1 January 2023

於二零二二年十二月三十一日及 
於二零二三年一月一日 5,214 9,195 384 20,068 142,781 735 1,124,695 1,303,072 23,342 1,326,414

             

Changes in equity 
for 2023:

於二零二三年 
的權益變動：

Profit for the year – – – – – – 20,813 20,813 6,590 27,403
Other comprehensive 

income for the year – – – – – (1,013) – (1,013) – (1,013)
             

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – – (1,013) 20,813 19,800 6,590 26,390

             

Dividend declared 25(b) – – – – – – (4,327) (4,327) (15,000) (19,327)
Transfer between reserves – – – (1,759) – – 1,759 – – –
Equity-settled share-based 

transactions
 

5(b) – – – – – – – – 282 282
Appropriation to 

statutory reserves – – – – 10,105 – (10,105) – – –
             

As at 31 December 2023 於二零二三年十二月三十一日 5,214 9,195 384 18,309 152,886 (278) 1,132,835 1,318,545 15,214 1,333,759
             

As at 31 December 2023 and 
As at 1 January 2024

於二零二三年十二月三十一日及 
於二零二四年一月一日 5,214 9,195 384 18,309 152,886 (278) 1,132,835 1,318,545 15,214 1,333,759

             

Changes in equity 
for 2024:

於二零二四年 
的權益變動：

Profit for the year – – – – – – 27,415 27,415 1,478 28,893
Other comprehensive 

income for the year – – – – – (332) – (332) – (332)
             

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – – (332) 27,415 27,083 1,478 28,561

             

Dividend declared 25(b) – – – – – – (9,968) (9,968) (8,265) (18,233)
Equity-settled share-based 

transactions
 

5(b) – – – – – – – – 368 368
Appropriation to 

statutory reserves – – – – 3,953 – (3,953) – – –
Deregistration of a subsidiary – – – – (110) – 110 – – –
             

As at 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日 5,214 9,195 384 18,309 156,729 (610) 1,146,439 1,335,660 8,795 1,344,455
             

The notes on pages 108 to 219 form part of these financial 
statements.

108 219
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Operating activities 經營活動

Cash generated from 
operations 19(b) 187,639 138,155

Income tax paid (33,249) (42,255)
     

Net cash generated from 
operating activities

經營活動所得淨現金
154,390 95,900

Investing activities 投資活動

Payment for the purchase of 
property, plant  
and equipment

 

(7,130) (29,187)
Payment for the purchase  

of intangible assets (1,500) (2,654)
Proceeds from disposal of 

property, plant and  
equipment

 

81 776
Net decrease/(increase) of 

deposits with banks with 
original maturity date over 
three months

 

13,391 (100,391)
Net decrease in pledged bank 

deposits 29,677 3,982
Interest received 8,862 6,196

     

Net cash generated from/
(used in) investing 
activities

投資活動所得╱（所用） 
淨現金

43,381 (121,278)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(Expressed in Renminbi) 

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Financing activities 融資活動

Proceeds from bank  
borrowings 19(c) 409,193 336,638

Repayment of bank  
borrowings 19(c) (520,228) (270,218)

Dividends paid 25(b) (18,233) (19,327)
Interest paid 19(c) (11,890) (16,717)
Capital element of lease  

rentals paid 19(c) (17,088) (15,810)
Interest element of lease  

rentals paid 19(c) (1,180) (1,953)
     

Net cash (used in)/ 
generated from  
financing activities

融資活動（所用）╱ 
所得淨現金

19(c) (159,426) 12,613
     

Net increase/(decrease) in  
cash and cash  
equivalents

現金及現金等價物 
增加╱（減少）淨額

38,345 (12,765)

Cash and cash equivalents  
at 1 January

於一月一日的現金及 
現金等價物 200,265 212,784

Effect of foreign exchange  
rate changes 200 246

     

Cash and cash equivalents  
at 31 December

於十二月三十一日 
的現金及現金等價物 19(a) 238,810 200,265

   

 

 

The notes on pages 108 to 219 form part of these financial 
statements.

108 219
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These f inancial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with all applicable 
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). These financial statements 
also comply with the applicable disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. These f inancial statements 
also comply with the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (“SEHK”). Material accounting 
policies adopted by the group are disclosed 
below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments 
to IFRS Accounting Standards that are first 
effective or available for early adoption for the 
current accounting period of the group. Note 
1(c) provides information on any changes 
in accounting policies resulting from initial 
application of these developments to the 
extent that they are relevant to the group for 
the current accounting periods reflected in 
these financial statements.

1 

(a) 

國際會計準則理事
會 IFRS

香港
聯交所

IFRS

1(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial 
statements
The consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 comprise 
the company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as the “group”) and the group’s 
interest in an associate.

These financial statements are presented in 
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest 
thousand, as the group’s principal activities 
were carried out in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”). RMB is the functional 
currency for the company’s subsidiaries 
established in the Mainland China. The 
functional currency of the company and the 
company’s subsidiaries outside the Mainland 
China are Hong Kong dollars.

These financial statements are prepared 
on the historical cost basis except that 
financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss which are stated at their fair value as 
explained in the accounting policies below 
(note 1(g)).

1  

(b)  

本集團

中國
人民幣

1(g)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial 
statements (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards 
requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the 
judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period, or in 
the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Judgements made by management in the 
application of IFRS Accounting Standards 
that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation 
uncertainty are discussed in note 29.

1  

(b)  

IFRS

IFRS

29
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies
(i) New and amended IFRS Accounting 

Standards
The group has applied the following 
amendments to IFRS Accounting 
S t a n d a r d s  t o  t h e s e  f i n a n c i a l 
statements for the current accounting 
period:

• A m e n d m e n t s  t o  I A S  1 , 
P re s e n t a t i o n  o f  f i n a n c i a l 
statements: Classification of 
l iabil it ies as current or non-
current (“2020 amendments”) 
a n d  a m e n d m e n t s  t o  I A S 
1, Presentat ion of f inancial 
s ta tements  –  Non-cur rent 
liabilities with covenants (“2022 
amendments”)

• Amendments  to  I FRS  16 , 
Leases: Lease liability in a sale 
and leaseback

• A m e n d m e n t s  t o  I A S  7 , 
Statement of cash flows  and 
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: 
Disclosures – Supplier finance 
arrangements

1  

(c) 
(i) IFRS

IFRS

• 1

1

• 
16

• 7

7

 – 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies  
(Continued)

(i) New and amended IFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)

The group has not applied any new 
standard or interpretation that is not 
yet effective for the current accounting 
period. Impacts of the adoption of the 
amended IFRS Accounting Standards 
are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of 
financial statements (“2020 and 2022 

amendments”, or collectively the “IAS 1 

amendments”)

The IAS 1 amendments impact the 
classification of a liability as current 
or  non-current,  and are appl ied 
retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments pr imari ly 
clarify the classification of a liability 
t ha t  can  be  se t t l ed  i n  i t s  own 
equity instruments. If the terms of 
a liability could, at the option of the 
counterparty, result in its settlement 
by the transfer of the entity’s own 
equity instruments and that conversion 
option is accounted for as an equity 
instrument, these terms do not affect 
the classification of the liability as 
current or non-current. Otherwise, the 
transfer of equity instruments would 
constitute settlement of the liability and 
impact classification.

1  

(c)  

(i) IFRS

IFRS

1

1

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies  
(Continued)

(i) New and amended IFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)

The 2022 amendments specify that 
conditions with which an entity must 
comply after the reporting date do 
not affect the classification of a liability 
as current or non-current. However, 
the entity is required to disclose 
information about non-current liabilities 
subject to such conditions in a full set 
of financial statements.

Upon the adoption of the amendments, 
t he  g roup  has  reassessed  t he 
classification of its liabilities as current 
or non-current and did not identify any 
reclassification to be made.

Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease 
liability in a sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity 
accounts for a sale and leaseback 
after the date of the transaction. The 
amendments require the seller-lessee 
to apply the general requirements for 
subsequent accounting of the lease 
liability in such a way that it does not 
recognise any gain or loss relating to 
the right of use it retains. A seller-lessee 
is required to apply the amendments 
retrospectively to sale and leaseback 
transactions entered into after the date 
of initial application. The amendments 
do not have a material impact on these 
financial statements as the group 
has not entered into any sale and 
leaseback transactions.

1  

(c)  

(i) IFRS

16
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies  
(Continued)

(i) New and amended IFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash 
flows and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: 
Disclosures – Supplier finance 
arrangements 

The amendments introduce new 
disclosure requirements to enhance 
transparency of suppl ier f inance 
arrangements and their effects on 
an ent i ty’s l iabi l i t ies, cash f lows 
and exposure to liquidity risk. The 
amendments do not have a material 
impact on these financial statements 
as the group has not entered into any 
supplier finance arrangements.

1  

(c)  

(i) IFRS

7

7
 – 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling 
interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the 
group. The group controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which control commences until the 
date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and 
any unrealised income and expenses (except 
for foreign currency transaction gains or 
losses) arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

For each business combination, the group 
can elect to measure any non-controlling 
interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the 
NCI’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s 
net identifiable assets.

1  

(d)  

非控股權益
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling 
interests (Continued)

NCI are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position within equity, 
separately from equity attributable to the 
equity shareholders of the company. NCI in 
the results of the group are presented on the 
face of the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income as an 
allocation of the total profit or loss and total 
comprehensive income for the year between 
NCI and the equity shareholders of the 
company.

Changes in the group’s interests in a 
subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, 
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other 
components of equity. Any resulting gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
interest retained in that former subsidiary is 
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the company’s statement of financial 
position, an investment in a subsidiary is 
stated at cost less impairment losses (note 
1(l)(ii)).

1  

(d)  

1(l)(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(e) Associates
An associate is an entity in which the group 
or the company has significant influence, but 
not control or joint control, over the financial 
and operating.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture 
is accounted for using the equity method, 
unless it is classified as held for sale (or 
included in a disposal group classified as 
held for sale). They are initially recognised 
at cost, which includes transaction costs. 
Subsequently, the consolidated financial 
statements include the group’s share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”) of those investees, until the 
date on which significant influence or joint 
control ceases.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds 
its interest in the associate, the group’s 
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the 
extent that the group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, 
the group’s interest is the carrying amount 
of the investment under the equity method, 
together with any other long-term interests 
that in substance form part of the group’s net 
investment in the associate, after applying the 
ECL model to such other long-term interests 
where applicable (see note 1(l)(i)).

1  

(e) 

其他
全面收益

1(l)(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(e) Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains arising from transactions 
w i th  equ i ty-accounted investees are 
eliminated against the investment to the 
extent of the group’s interest in the investee. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same 
way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial 
position, an investment in an associate or a 
joint venture is stated at cost less impairment 
losses (see note 1(l)), unless it is classified as 
held for sale (or included in a disposal group 
classified as held for sale).

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on a business combination 
is allocated to each cash-generating unit, 
or groups of cash generating units, that is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination and is tested annually for 
impairment (see note 1(l)).

1  

(e) 

1(l)

(f) 

1(l)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(g) Other investments in securities
The group’s policies for investments in 
secur i t ies,  other  than investments in 
subsidiaries and an associate, are set out 
below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the group commits 
to purchase/se l l  the investment.  The 
investments are initially stated at fair value 
plus directly attributable transaction costs, 
except for those investments measured 
at FVPL for which transaction costs are 
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an 
explanation of how the group determines 
fair value of financial instruments, see note 
26(e). These investments are subsequently 
accounted for as follows, depending on their 
classification.

Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into 
one of the following measurement categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is 
held for the collection of contractual 
cash flows which represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. 
Expected credi t  losses, interest 
income calculated using the effective 
interest method (see note 1(v)(i i)), 
foreign exchange gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 
loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss.

1  

(g) 

26(e)

– 

1(v)(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(g) Other investments in securities  
(Continued)

Non-equity investments (Continued)

– FVOCI – recycling, if the contractual 
cash flows of the investment comprise 
solely payments of principal and 
interest and the investment is held 
wi th in a bus iness model  whose 
objective is achieved by both the 
collection of contractual cash flows 
and sale. Expected credit losses, 
interest income (calculated using 
the effective interest method) and 
foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as 
if the financial asset was measured 
at amortised cost. The difference 
between the  fa i r  va lue  and the 
amortised cost is recognised in OCI. 
When the investment is derecognised, 
the amount accumulated in OCI is 
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

– FVPL if the investment does not meet 
the criteria for being measured at 
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). 
Changes in the fa i r  value of the 
investment (including interest) are 
recognised in profit or loss.

1  

(g)  

– 

– 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(g) Other investments in securities  
(Continued)

Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified 
as FVPL unless the investment is not held for 
trading purposes and on initial recognition 
the group makes an irrevocable election to 
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes 
in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such 
elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if the 
investment meets the definition of equity from 
the issuer’s perspective. If such election is 
made for a particular investment at the time 
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the 
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred 
to retained earnings and not recycled through 
profit or loss.

1  

(g)  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(h) Investment property
Investment properties are buildings and land 
which are owned or held under a leasehold 
interest (see note 1(k)) to earn rental income 
and/or for capital appreciation. These include 
land held for a currently undetermined future 
use and property that is being constructed 
or developed for future use as investment 
property.

Investment properties are measured initially 
at cost. The cost of purchased investment 
properties comprises their purchases price 
and any direct attributable expenditures. 
Investment properties are accounted for 
using the cost model and stated in the 
statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment 
loss (see note 1(l)(ii)). The cost of investment 
properties, less their estimated residual 
value and accumulated impairment loss, is 
depreciated using the straight-line method 
over its estimated useful life as follow:

• Interests in  remaining term 
  leasehold land of the lease

• Buildings 20 years

Rental income from investment properties is 
accounted for as described in note 1(v)(iv).

1  

(h) 
╱

1(k)

1(l)(ii)

•  
   

•  20

1(v)(iv)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(i) Property, plant and equipment
The fol lowing items of property, plant 
and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses (note 1(l)(ii)):

– buildings, including buildings held 
for own use which are situated on 
leasehold land and right-of-use assets 
arising from leases of underlying 
building; and

– other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of sel f-constructed i tems of 
property, plant and equipment includes the 
cost of materials, direct labour, the initial 
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located, 
and an appropriate proportion of production 
overheads and borrowing costs (note 1(x)).

Items may be produced while bringing an 
item of property, plant and equipment to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. The proceeds from selling 
any such items and the related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss.

No depreciation is provided in respect of 
construction in progress.

If significant parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful 
lives, then they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components).

1  

(i) 

1(l)(ii)

– 

– 

1(x)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(i) Property, plant and equipment  
(Continued)

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is recognised 
in profit or loss. Any related revaluation 
surplus is transferred from the revaluation 
reserve to reta ined prof i ts and is not 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost 
of items of property, plant and equipment, 
less their estimated residual values, if any, 
using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful l ives, and is generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

– Buildings situated on leasehold land are 
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired 
term of lease and their estimated useful lives, 
being no more than 50 years after the date of 
completion.

– Ownership interests  Remaining term 
  in land and other  of the lease
  properties held 
  for own use 
  carried at cost 
– Leasehold  Shorter of 3 – 5 years 
  improvements or remaining term 
  of the lease
– Plant and machinery 5 – 10 years
– Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years
– Furniture, fixtures  3 – 5 years
  and equipment

Depreciation methods, useful l ives and 
residual values are reviewed annually and 
adjusted if appropriate.

1  

(i)  

– 

50

–  
  
  
  
  
–  3 5
  

–  5 10
–  4 5
–  3 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(j) Intangible assets
Intangible assets, including patents and 
trademarks,  that are acquired by the 
group are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation (where the estimated useful life 
is finite) and impairment losses (note 1(l)(ii)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the 
cost of intangible assets less their estimated 
residual values using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

Computer software 5 – 10 years
Trademark 10 years 

Amortisation methods, useful l ives and 
residual values are reviewed annually and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(k) Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the group assesses 
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. 
This is the case if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. Control is conveyed where 
the customer has both the right to direct 
the use of the identified asset and to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from 
that use.

1  

(j) 

1(l)(ii)

 5 10
 10

(k) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee
At the lease commencement date, 
the group recognises a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability, except for 
leases that have a short lease term 
of 12 months or less and leases of 
low-value items such as laptops and 
office furniture. When the group enters 
into a lease in respect of a low-value 
item, the group decides whether to 
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease 
basis. If not capitalised. the associated 
lease payments are recognised in profit 
and loss on a systematic basis over 
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the 
lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease 
payments payable over the lease 
term, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, using a 
relevant incremental borrowing rate. 
After initial recognition, the lease liability 
is measured at amortised cost and 
interest expense is recognised using 
the effective interest method. Variable 
lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or rate are not included in 
the measurement of the lease liability 
and are charged to profit or loss, as 
incurred.

1  

(k) 
(i) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised 
when a lease is capitalised is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date, 
and plus initial direct costs incurred 
and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site 
on which it is located, less any lease 
incentives received. The right-of-use 
asset is subsequently stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses (see notes 1(i) and 
1(l)(ii)).

Re fundab le  renta l  depos i ts  a re 
accounted for separately from the 
right-of-use assets in accordance with 
the accounting policy applicable to 
investments in non-equity securities 
carried at amortised cost (see notes 
1(g), 1(v)(ii) and 1(l)(i)). Any excess of 
the nominal value over the initial fair 
value of the deposits is accounted for 
as additional lease payments made 
and is included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

1  

(k) 
(i) 

1(i) 1(l)(ii)

1(g) 1(v)(ii) 1(l)(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease 
payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a change 
in the group’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, or if the 
group changes its assessment it of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option. When 
the lease liability is remeasured in this 
way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured 
when there is a lease modification, 
which means a change in the scope of 
a lease or the consideration for a lease 
that is not originally provided for in the 
lease contract, if such modification 
is not accounted for as a separate 
lease. In this case the lease liability 
is remeasured based on the revised 
lease payments and lease term using 
a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification.

1  

(k) 
(i) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of 
financial position, the current portion of 
long-term lease liabilities is determined 
as the present value of contractual 
payments that are due to be settled 
w i th in  twe lve  months  a f te r  the 
reporting period.

(ii) As a lessor
The group dete rmines  a t  l ease 
inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease. A 
lease is classified as a finance lease if it 
transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to the ownership 
of an underlying assets to the lessee. 
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an 
operating lease.

1  

(k) 
(i) 

(ii) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial 

instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables
The group recognises a loss allowance 
for expected credit losses (“ECL”s) 
on:

– financial assets measured at 
amortised cost (including cash 
and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables, including 
those loans to an associate, 
that are held for the collection 
of contractual cash flows which 
represent solely payments of 
principal and interest); and

– lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probabi l i ty-weighted 
estimate of credit losses. Generally, 
credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all expected cash 
shortfalls between the contractual and 
expected amounts.

1  

(l) 
(i) 

預期信貸虧損

– 

– 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
The expected cash shortfal ls are 
discounted using the discount rates if 
the effect is material:

– f ixed-rate f inancia l  assets, 
trade and other receivables 
and contract assets: effective 
interest rate determined at initial 
recognition or an approximation 
thereof;

– variable-rate financial assets: 
current effective interest rate;

– lease receivables: discount rate 
used in the measurement of the 
lease receivable.

The maximum period considered 
when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the 
group is exposed to credit risk.

1  

(l)  

(i) 

– 

– 

– 



132

Cabbeen Fashion Limited    Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the 
following bases:

– 12-month ECLs: these are the 
portion of ECLs that result from 
default events that are possible 
within the 12 months after the 
reporting date (or a shorter 
period if the expected life of 
the instrument is less than 12 
months); and

– lifetime ECLs: these are the 
ECLs  t ha t  re su l t  f rom  a l l 
possible default events over the 
expected lives of the items to 
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables 
and contract  assets are a lways 
measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs.

1  

(l)  

(i) 

– 12
12

12

– 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit 
risk of a financial instrument (including 
a loan commitment) has increased 
significantly since initial recognition 
and when measuring ECLs, the group 
considers reasonable and supportable 
in format ion that  is  re levant  and 
available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the group’s h is tor ica l 
exper ience and in formed cred i t 
assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.

The group assumes that the credit 
risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

1  

(l)  

(i) 

30
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
The group considers a financial asset 
to be in default when:

– the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the group 
in ful l ,  without recourse by 
the group to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); 
or

– the financial asset is 180 days 
past due.

ECLs  a re  remeasu red  a t  each 
reporting date to reflect changes in 
the financial instrument’s credit risk 
since initial recognition. Any change in 
the ECL amount is recognised as an 
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. 
The group recognises an impairment 
gain or loss for all financial instruments 
with a corresponding adjustment to 
their carrying amount through a loss 
allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the group 
assesses whether a financial asset 
is credit-impaired. A financial asset 
is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred.

1  

(l)  

(i) 

– 

– 
180
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes the following 
observable events:

– significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a 
default or delinquency in interest 
or principal payments;

– the restructuring of a loan or 
advance by the group on terms 
that the group would not consider 
otherwise;

– it is probable that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

– the disappearance of an active 
market for a security because of 
financial difficulties of the issuer.

1  

(l)  

(i) 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial 
instruments, contract assets and lease 
receivables (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carry ing amount of  a 
f inancia l  asset,  lease receivable 
or contract asset is written off to 
the extent that there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery. This is generally 
the case when the group otherwise 
determines that the debtor does not 
have assets or sources of income that 
could generate sufficient cash flows 
to repay the amounts subject to the 
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset 
that was previously written off are 
recognised as a reversal of impairment 
in profit or loss in the period in which 
the recovery occurs.

1  

(l)  

(i) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
At each reporting date, the group 
reviews the carry ing amounts of 
its non-financial assets (other than 
property carried at revalued amounts, 
investment property, inventories and 
other contract costs, contract assets 
and deferred tax assets) to determine 
whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. Goodwil l is 
tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are 
grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or cash-generating 
units (“CGU”s). Goodwill arising from 
a business combination is allocated 
to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or 
CGU is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs of disposal. 
Value in use is based on the estimated 
future cash f lows, discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU.

1  

(l)  

(ii) 

現金產生單位
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets 
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss. They are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and 
then to reduce the carrying amounts of 
the other assets in the CGU on a pro 
rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of 
goodwill is not reversed. For other 
assets, an impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the resulting 
carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

1  

(l)  

(ii) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(l) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and 
impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited, the group is 
required to prepare an interim financial 
report in compliance with IAS 34, 
Interim financial reporting, in respect 
of the first six months of the financial 
year. At the end of the interim period, 
the group applies the same impairment 
testing, recognition, and reversal 
criteria as it would at the end of the 
financial year (see note 1(l)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an 
interim period in respect of goodwill 
are not reversed in a subsequent 
period. This is the case even if no 
loss, or a smaller loss, would have 
been recognised had the impairment 
been assessed only at the end of the 
financial year to which the interim 
period relates.

1  

(l)  

(iii)  

34

1(l)(i)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(m) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted 
average cost formula and comprises all costs 
of purchase, costs of conversion and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less any estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in selling 
the property.

1  

(m) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(n) Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when the 
customer pays non-refundable consideration 
before the group recognises the related 
revenue (see note 1(v)). A contract liability 
is also recognised if the group has an 
unconditional right to receive consideration 
before the group recognises the related 
revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding 
receivable is also recognised (see note 1(o)).

(o) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the group 
has an uncondi t ional  r ight  to receive 
consideration and only the passage of time is 
required before payment of that consideration 
is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component are initially 
measured at their transaction price. Trade 
receivables that contain a significant financing 
component and other receivables are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
All receivables are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost (see note 1(l)(i)).

1  

(n) 

1(v)

1(o)

(o) 

1(l)(i)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured 
initially at fair value less transaction costs. 
Subsequently, these borrowings are stated 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense is recognised in 
accordance with note 1(x).

(q) Trade and other payables (other than 
refund liabilities)
Trade and other payables are in i t ia l ly 
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, trade and other payables are 
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of 
discounting would be immaterial, in which 
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(r) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with 
banks and other financial institutions, and 
other short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
having been within three months of maturity 
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are 
assessed for ECL (see note 1(l)(i)).

1  

(p) 

1(x)

(q) 

(r) 

1(l)(i)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(s) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and 

contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are 
expensed as the related service is 
provided. A l iabil ity is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid 
if the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution retirement plans are 
expensed as the related service is 
provided.

(ii) Share-based payments
The grant-date fair value of equity-
settled share-based payments granted 
to employees is measured using the 
binomial lattice model. The amount is 
generally recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the vesting period of the 
awards. The amount recognised as 
an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
number of awards for which the related 
service conditions are expected to be 
met, such that the amount ultimately 
recognised is based on the number of 
awards that meet the related service 
conditions at the vesting date. The 
equity amount is recognised in the 
capital reserve until either the option 
is exercised (when it is included in the 
amount recognised in share capital 
for the shares issued) or the option 
expires (when it is released directly to 
retained profits).

1  

(s) 
(i) 

 

(ii) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(s) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are expensed 
at the ear l ier of when the group 
can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when the group 
recognises costs for a restructuring.

(t) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current tax 
and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to a 
business combination, or items recognised 
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax 
payable or receivable on the taxable income 
or loss for the year and any adjustments to 
the tax payable or receivable in respect of 
previous years. The amount of current tax 
payable or receivable is the best estimate 
of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received that reflects any uncertainty related 
to income taxes. It is measured using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. Current tax also includes any 
tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset 
only if certain criteria are met.

1  

(s) 
(iii) 

(t) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(t) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 
temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for:

– temporary differences on the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss 
and does not give rise to equal taxable 
and deductible temporary differences;

– temporary di fferences related to 
investment in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint venture to the extent that 
the group is able to control the timing 
of the reversal  of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future;

– taxable temporary differences arising 
on the initial recognition of goodwill; 
and

– those related to the income taxes 
arising from tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted to implement 
the Pillar Two model rules published 
by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

1  

(t) 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(t) Income tax (Continued)

The group has determined the temporary 
differences in relation to right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities separately. The change 
primarily impacts disclosures of components 
of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the 
annual financial statements, but does not 
impact the overall deferred tax balances 
presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as the related deferred tax 
balances qualify for offsetting under IAS 12.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which they 
can be used. Future taxable profits are 
determined based on the reversal of relevant 
taxable temporary differences. If the amount 
of taxable temporary differences is insufficient 
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then 
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals 
of exist ing temporary di fferences, are 
considered, based on the business plans for 
individual subsidiaries in the group. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised; such reductions are reversed 
when the probability of future taxable profits 
improves.

1  

(t) 

12
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(t) Income tax (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the group expects, at 
the reporting date, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
only if certain criteria are met.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Generally provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when 
the underlying products or services are sold, 
based on historical warranty data and a 
weighting of possible outcomes against their 
associated probabilities.

A prov is ion for  onerous cont racts  is 
measured at the present value of the lower of 
the expected cost of terminating the contract 
and the expected net cost of continuing with 
the contract, which is determined based on 
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation 
under that contract and an allocation of other 
costs directly related to fulfilling that contract. 
Before a provision is established, the group 
recognises any impairment loss on the assets 
associated with that contract (see note 1(l)(ii)).

1  

(t) 

(u) 

1(l)(ii)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities 
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the 
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic 
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more future events are also disclosed as 
contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or al l  of  the expenditure 
required to settle a provision is expected to 
be reimbursed by another party, a separate 
asset is recognised for any expected 
reimbursement that would be virtual ly 
certain. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement is limited to the carrying 
amount of the provision.

(v) Revenue and other income
Income is classified by the group as revenue 
when it arises from the sale of goods, the 
provision of services or the use by others of 
group’s assets under leases in the ordinary 
course of the group’s business.

Further details of the group’s revenue and 
other income recognition policies are as 
follows:

1  

(u)  

(v) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)

The group is the principal for its revenue 
transactions and recognises revenue on a 
gross basis. In determining whether the group 
acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers 
whether it obtains control of the products 
before they are transferred to the customers. 
Control refers to the group’s ability to direct 
the use of and obtain substantially all of the 
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over 
a product or service is transferred to the 
customers at the amount of promised 
consideration to which the group is expected 
to be entitled, excluding those amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties such as 
value added tax (“VAT”) or other sales taxes.

Further details of the group’s revenue and 
other income recognition policies are as 
follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the 
customer takes possession of and 
accepts the products.  Revenue 
represented the sales value of goods 
sold less returns, discounts, rebates 
and VAT.

Payment terms and conditions vary by 
customers and are based on the billing 
schedule established in the contracts 
or purchase orders with customers, 
but the group generally provides credit 
terms to customers within nine months 
upon customer acceptance. The 
group takes advantage of the practical 
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 
and does not adjust the consideration 
for any effects of a significant financing 
component as the period of financing 
is 12 months or less.

1  

(v) 

增值稅

(i) 

15
63
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Sale of goods (Continued)

For  sa les  to  d i s t r ibu to rs  o r  on 
e-commerce platforms, the group 
offers customers rights of return for 
a specific period upon acceptance. 
It also offers sales rebates to certain 
major customers when their purchases 
reach an agreed threshold. Such rights 
of return and sales rebates give rise 
to variable consideration. The group 
uses an expected value approach to 
estimate variable consideration based 
on the group’s current and future 
performance expectations and all 
information that is reasonably available. 
This estimated amount is included in 
the transaction price to the extent it 
is highly probable that a significant 
reve rsa l  o f  cumu la t i ve  revenue 
recognised wi l l  not  occur  when 
the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is resolved. At 
the time of sale, the group recognises 
revenue after taking into account 
adjustment to transaction price arising 
from returns and rebates as mentioned 
above. A refund liability is recognised 
for the expected returns and rebates, 
and is included in other payables (see 
note 21). A right to recover returned 
goods ( inc luded in  inventor ies , 
see note 16) and corresponding 
adjustment to cost of sales are also 
recognised for the right to recover 
products from customers. This right to 
recover returned goods is measured 
at the former carrying amount of the 
inventory less any expected costs 
to recover goods (including potential 
decreases in the value of the returned 
goods).

1  

(v) 
(i) 

21

16
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Sale of goods (Continued)

In addition, the group has applied the 
following practical expedients:

For sales contracts that had an original 
expected duration of one year or 
less, the group has not disclosed the 
information related to the aggregated 
amount of  the t ransact ion pr ice 
allocated to the remaining performance 
ob l iga t ions  in  accordance w i th 
paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15.

(ii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using 
the effective interest method. The 
“effective interest rate” is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 
In calculating interest income, the 
effective interest rate is applied to the 
gross carrying amount of the asset 
(when the asset is not credit-impaired). 
However, for financial assets that have 
become credit-impaired subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest income 
is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost 
of the financial asset. If the asset is 
no longer credit-impaired, then the 
calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis.

1  

(v) 
(i) 

15 121(a)

(ii) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii) Government grants
Government grants are recognised 
in the statement of financial position 
init ial ly when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received 
and that the group will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them. 
Grants that compensate the group for 
expenses incurred are recognised as 
income in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis in the same periods in which 
the expenses are incurred. Grants 
that compensate the group for the 
cost of an asset are deducted from 
the carrying amount of the asset and 
consequently are effectively recognised 
in profit or loss over the useful lives 
of  the asset by way of  reduced 
depreciation expense.

(iv) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases 
is recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised as an integral part of 
the total rental income, over the term 
of the lease. Variable lease payments 
that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognised as income in the 
accounting period in which they are 
earned.

1  

(v) 
(iii) 

(iv) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies
Transact ions in foreign currencies are 
translated into the respective functional 
currencies of group companies at the 
exchange  ra tes  a t  t he  da tes  o f  t he 
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at 
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities that are measured at fair value 
in a foreign currency are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate when 
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured based 
on historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated at the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
are generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates at 
the reporting date. The income and expenses 
of foreign operations are translated into Hong 
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised 
in OCI and accumulated in the exchange 
reserve, except to the extent that the 
translation difference is allocated to NCI.

1  

(w) 
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies 
(Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of 
in its entirety or partially such that control, 
significant influence or joint control is lost, the 
cumulative amount in the exchange reserve 
related to that foreign operation is reclassified 
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation, the cumulative 
amount of the exchange differences relating 
to that foreign operation that have been 
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, 
but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. 
If the group disposes of part of its interest 
in a subsidiary but retains control, then the 
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount 
is reattributed to NCI. When the group 
disposes of only part of an associate or joint 
venture while retaining significant influence 
or joint control, the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or 
loss.

(x) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production 
of an asset which necessari ly takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of 
the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs 
are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred.

1  

(w)  

(x) 
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(y) Research and development
Expenditure on research and development 
activities is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it is incurred.

(z) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that 

person’s family, is related to the group 
if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over 
the group;

(ii) has significant influence over the 
group; or

(iii) i s  a  m e m b e r  o f  t h e  k e y 
management personnel of the 
group or the group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the group if any 
of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the group are 
members of the same group 
(which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary 
is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or 
joint venture of the other entity 
(or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which 
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures 
of the same third party.

1  

(y) 

(z) 
(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
(Continued)

(z) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the group if any 
of the following conditions applies: 
(Continued)
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a 

third entity and the other entity is 
an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment 
benefit plan for the benefit of 
employees of either the group 
or an entity related to the group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly 
controlled by a person identified 
in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has 
significant influence over the 
entity or is a member of the 
key management personnel of 
the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of 
a group of which it is a part, 
prov ides key management 
personnel services to the group 
or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are 
those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that person 
in their dealings with the entity.

1  

(z) 
(b) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (a)

(vii) (a)(i)

(viii) 
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2 REVENUE
The principal activities of the group are the sale of 
apparel and related accessories in the PRC. Revenue 
represents the sales value of goods sold less returns, 
discounts, rebates and VAT.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with 
customers within the scope of IFRS 15 by sales 
channels is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
截至十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Online shops 545,033 623,029

Offline shops
Wholesale 81,348 145,265 
Consignment 335,411 341,175
Self-operated 21,327 24,641

    

438,086 511,081
    

OEM 51,889 54,538
    

1,035,008 1,188,648
    

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
group had one customer with whom transactions 
have exceeded 10% of the group’s revenue (2023: 
Nil). Details of concentrations of credit risk arising 
from these customers are set out in note 26(a).

The group has applied practical expedient in 
paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, to exempt the disclosure 
of revenue expected to be recognised in the 
future arising from contracts with the customers 
in existence at the end of reporting period as the 
performance obligation is part of a contract that has 
an original expected duration of one year or less.

2 

15

10%

26(a)

15
121(a)
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3 SEGMENT REPORT
The group manages its businesses by divisions, 
which are organised by a mixture of both business 
lines (products and services) and geography. 
In a manner consistent with the way in which 
information is reported internally to the group’s most 
senior executive management for the purposes of 
resource allocation and performance assessment, 
the group operates in a single business segment, 
manufacturing and sale of apparel and related 
accessories in the PRC. Accordingly, no segmental 
analysis is presented.

4 OTHER NET INCOME

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Interest income 11,028 11,226
Government grants (Note) 26,588 29,006
Rental income from investment  

property 7,541 9,530
Depreciation of investment  

property (12,196) (14,927)
Net gain on sale of  

promotion and display materials
 

7,756 4,540
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (2,166) 1,225
Net gain on disposal of  

property, plant and equipment  
and other non-current assets

 
 

283 –
Others 8,610 9,183

    

47,444 49,783
    

Note:

Government grants in the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023 represented unconditional cash awards granted by 
government authorities.

3 

4 
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

(a) Finance costs 融資成本

Interest on bank  
borrowings and  
discounting of  
bank acceptance bills

 

11,890 16,699
Interest on lease liabilities 1,180 1,953

     

13,070 18,652
     

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

(b) Staff costs 員工成本

Salaries, wages and other  
benefits 69,743 81,716

Contributions to defined 
contribution retirement 
plans (note 23)

 
23

3,905 4,932
Termination benefits 3,044 2,617
Equity settled share-based 

payment expenses  
(note 24)

 
 

24 368 282
     

77,060 89,547
     

5 
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: 
(Continued)

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

(c) Other items 其他項目

Amortisation
– intangible assets 

(note 12)
– 12

3,794 5,293
Depreciation

– owned property,  
plant and equipment 
(note 11)

–  
11

36,227 30,783
– investment property 

(note 10)
–  

10 12,196 14,927
– right-of-use asset 

(note 11)
–  

11 16,554 17,117
Provision 

of impairment loss
– trade and  

other receivables 
(note 17)

–  
17

44,919 14,095
– goodwill of an associate – 1,676 7,098

Inventory write-down  
(note 16(b), (ii))

16(b) (ii)
43,138 62,343

Auditors’ remuneration 2,838 3,144
Research and  

development cost (i)
(i)

12,648 27,499
Cost of inventories 

(note 16(b), (ii))
16(b) (ii)

615,832 739,361
     

Notes:

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2024, research and 
development costs include staff costs of employees 
in the design, research and development department 
of RMB8,475,000 (2023: RMB9,863,000) which are 
included in the staff costs as disclosed in note 5(b).

(ii) For the year ended 31 December 2024, cost of inventories  
includes inventory write-down of RMB43,138,000 (2023: 
RMB62,343,000).

5 

(i) 

8,475,000
9,863,000

5(b)

(ii) 

43,138,000
62,343,000
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Income tax in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income represents:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Current tax 即期稅項
PRC Corporate  

Income Tax (iii)
(iii)

40,988 36,116
(Over)/under provision  

in respect of prior years (738) 1,000
Hong Kong Profits Tax (ii) (ii) 1,145 2,155
PRC withholding tax 

– dividend (iv) – (iv) 7,377 3,386
– others – 1,135 1,108

    

49,907 43,765

Deferred tax 遞延稅項
Origination of temporary  

differences and  
deductible tax losses  
(note 15(b))

 
 

15(b)
(12,134) (6,654)

    

37,773 37,111
    

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the 

Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands 

(“BVI”), the group is not subject to any income 

tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

(ii) For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 

2023, the provision for Hong Kong Profits 

Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated 

assessable profits for the year, except for 

one of the Company’s subsidiaries which is 

taxed at 8.25% on assessable profits up to 

HK$2,000,000; and 16.5% on any part of 

assessable profits over HK$2,000,000.

6 
 

(a) 

(i) 

英屬處女群島

(ii) 

16.5%

2,000,000

8.25% 2,000,000

16.5%
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(a) Income tax in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income represents: 
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iii) The statutory income tax rate applicable to the 

Company’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China 

is 25% for the year ended 31 December 2024 

(2023: 25%).

(iv) According to the Corporate Income Tax Law and 

its implementation rules, dividends receivable 

by non-PRC corporate residents from PRC 

enterprises are subject to withholding tax at 

a rate of 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties 

or arrangements, for profits earned since 1 

January 2008. In addition, under the Sino-Hong 

Kong Double Tax Arrangement and its relevant 

regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident 

will be liable for withholding tax at the rate of 5% 

for dividend income derived from the PRC if the 

Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” 

and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of 

the PRC company. Deferred tax liabilities have 

been provided for in this regard based on the 

expected dividends to be distributed from these 

subsidiaries in the foreseeable future in respect 

of the profits generated since 1 January 2008. 

The group adopted 5% withholding tax rate for 

the years ended 31 December 2024.

Div idend withhold ing tax represents tax 

charged by the PRC tax authority and dividend 

distributed by the group and subsidiary in the 

Mainland China during the year.

6 
 

(a) 
 

 

(iii) 

25%

25%

(iv)  

10%

25%

5%

5%
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and 
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Profit before taxation 66,666 64,514
    

Notional tax on profit  
before taxation,  
calculated at the  
standard tax rates  
applicable to the  
respective tax  
jurisdictions

 
 

 

18,545 17,701
Effect of non-deductible  

expenses 7,150 6,632
Effect of tax losses not  

recognised 4,773 6,337
(Over)/under provision in prior 

years
 

(738) 1,000
Other withholding tax 8,512 4,494
Others (469) 947

    

Actual tax expense 37,773 37,111
    

6 
 

(b) 
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7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The details of directors’ emoluments are disclosed 
as follows:

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries, 
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Retirement
scheme

contributions
2024
Total

董事袍金

薪金、
津貼及
實物福利

退休計劃
供款

二零二四年
總計

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

Executive directors 執行董事
Dr. Ziming Yang 661 661 33 1,355
Mr. Rongqin Ke 178 360 45 583

Independent 
non-executive  
directors

獨立非執行董事

Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui 330 – – 330
Mr. Ming Shu Leung 330 – – 330
Ms. Jing Gu 330 – – 330

      

Total 總計 1,829 1,021 78 2,928
      

7 
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7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries, 
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Retirement
scheme

contributions
2023
Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors 執行董事
Dr. Ziming Yang 654 654 33 1,341
Mr. Siu Keung Ng 

(resigned on 
1/9/2023)

 
 

218 109 26 353
Mr. Rongqin Ke 176 360 41 577

Independent 
non-executive  
directors

獨立非執行董事

Mr. Yung Kwok Tsui 327 – – 327
Mr. Honghui Chen 

(resigned on 
28/4/2023)

 
 

 
109 – – 109

Mr. Ming Shu Leung 327 – – 327
Ms. Jing Gu 

(appointed on 
27/4/2023)

 
 

 
222 – – 222

      

Total 總計 2,033 1,123 100 3,256
      

7 
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8 INDIVIDUAL WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 
two (2023: two) are the directors whose emoluments 
are disclosed in note 7 above. The aggregate of the 
emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2023: 
three) individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Salaries and other emoluments 3,431 3,632
Contributions to retirement  

benefit scheme 120 104
Equity settled share-based  

payments
 

368 282
    

3,919 4,018
    

The emoluments of the three (2023: three) 
individuals with the highest emoluments are within 
the following bands:

2024 2023
二零二四年
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

人數

Below HK$500,000 500,000 – 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001  

1,000,000 1 –
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001  

1,500,000 1 –
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001  

2,000,000 – 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001  

2,500,000 1 1
    

8 

7
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is 
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity 
shareholders of the company of RMB27,415,000 
(2023: earnings of RMB20,813,000) and the 
weighted average number of 668,593,000 ordinary 
shares (2023: 668,593,000) in issue during the year.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, 
since there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
of the company, diluted earnings per share was the 
same as basic earnings per share.

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

RMB’000

Cost: 成本：
At 1 January 2023 158,081
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 2,678

   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
160,759

   

Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (42,990)
   

At 31 December 2024 117,769
   

Accumulated depreciation: 累計折舊：
At 1 January 2023 44,839
Charge for the year 14,927

   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
59,766

Charge for the year 12,196
   

Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (17,312)
   

At 31 December 2024 54,650
   

Net book value: 賬面淨值：
At 31 December 2024 63,119

   

At 31 December 2023 100,993
   

9 

27,415,000
20,813,000

668,593,000
668,593,000

10 
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties of the group are situated in 
the PRC.

The carrying amount of the investment properties 
was not materially different from its fair value as at 
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Assets leased out under operating leases
The group leases out investment properties under 
operating leases. The leases typically run for an 
initial period of 1 to 5 years, with an option to renew 
the lease after that date at which time all terms are 
renegotiated. Lease payments are usually adjusted 
every year to reflect market rentals. None of the 
leases includes variable lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under  non-
cancellable operating leases in place at the reporting 
date will be receivable by the group in future periods 
as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within 1 year 6,824 7,008
After 1 year but within 5 years 11,232 9,342

    

18,056 16,350
    

10 

1 5
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
Ownership 

interests 
in land and 

other 
properties held 

for own use 
carried at 

cost
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and

machinery
Motor

vehicles

Furniture,
fixtures

and equipment
Construction 

in progress Total
按成本入賬的

持作自用之土地
及其他物業之
擁有權權益 租賃物業裝修 廠房及機器設備 汽車

傢私、裝置
及設備 在建工程 總計

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost: 成本：
At 1 January 2023 116,404 92,729 132,753 18,144 32,254 49,770 442,054
Additions 1,699 – 123 1,783 1,087 27,715 32,407
Disposals – – (645) (780) (1,414) (49) (2,888)
Transfer – 35,063 36,663 – 2,973 (74,699) –
Reclassification to investment 

properties – – – – – (2,678) (2,678)
Exchange adjustment – 220 – 142 73 – 435
         

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

 
118,103 128,012 168,894 19,289 34,973 59 469,330

         

Additions – 1,160 195 2,058 546 792 4,751
Disposals – – (751) (102) (3,840) – (4,693)
Reclassification from investment 

properties – – 42,990 – – – 42,990
Exchange adjustment – 135 – 93 46 – 274
         

At 31 December 2024 118,103 129,307 211,328 21,338 31,725 851 512,652
         

Accumulated depreciation: 累計折舊：
At 1 January 2023 21,549 41,357 38,975 15,501 21,947 – 139,329
         

Charge for the year 17,117 12,405 13,171 1,330 3,877 – 47,900
Written back on disposals – – (380) (742) (1,299) – (2,421)
Exchange adjustment – 67 – 121 73 – 261
         

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

 
38,666 53,829 51,766 16,210 24,598 – 185,069

         

Charge for the year 16,554 17,140 13,940 1,513 3,634 – 52,781
Written back on disposals – – (719) (102) (3,654) – (4,475)
Reclassification from investment 

properties – – 17,312 – – – 17,312
Exchange adjustment – 61 – 77 43 – 181
         

At 31 December 2024 55,220 71,030 82,299 17,698 24,621 – 250,868
         

Net book value: 賬面淨值：
At 31 December 2024 62,883 58,277 129,029 3,640 7,104 851 261,784
         

At 31 December 2023 79,437 74,183 117,128 3,079 10,375 59 284,261
         

11 

(a) 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount 
(Continued)

The aggregated net book value of property, 
p lant  and equipment and investment 
properties (note 10) pledged to secure the 
group’s banking facilities for issuing bills 
payable and short-term bank borrowing 
was amounted to RMB188,096,000 as at  
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB187,702,000).

(b) Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-
use assets by class of underlying asset is as 
follows:

31 December
2024

31 December 
2023

二零二四年
十二月三十一日

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Ownership interests in  
leasehold land held 
for own use, carried at  
the depreciated cost

 
 
 

(i)

49,640 50,938
Other properties leased  

for own use, carried at  
the depreciated cost

 
 

(ii)

13,243 28,499
     

62,883 79,437
     

Notes: (i) Ownership interests in leasehold land held 

for own use

Ownership interests in leasehold land held 

for own use represented the group’s land 

use rights on leasehold land located in the 

PRC. Lump sum payments were made 

upfront to acquire these land use rights.

 (ii) Other properties leased for own use

The group has obta ined the r ight  to 

use other properties as its warehouses, 

office and retail stores through tenancy 

agreements. The leases typically run for an 

initial period of 2 to 5 years. Lease payments 

are usually increased every year to reflect 

market rentals.

11  

(a)  

188,096,000
10

187,702,000

(b) 

 (i) 

 (ii) 

2
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation 
to leases recognised in profit or loss is as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Depreciation charge of  
right-of-use assets by  
class of underlying asset:

 

Ownership interests  
in leasehold land 
held for own use

 

1,300 1,431

Other properties leased for 
own use 15,254 15,686

Interest on lease liabilities  
(note 5(a))

5(a)
1,180 1,953

Expense relating to  
short-term leases 

 
2,104 1,591

    

During the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 31 December 2023, additions to right-
of-use assets were primarily related to the 
capitalised lease payments payable under 
new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the 
maturity analysis of lease liabilities and the 
future cash outflows arising from leases that 
are not yet commenced are set out in notes 
19(d), 22 and 26(b) respectively.

11  

(b) 

19(d) 22 26(b)
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer

software Others Total
電腦軟件 其他 總計
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost: 成本：

At 1 January 2023 87,510 12,303 99,813
Additions 2,654 – 2,654
Disposals (52,109) – (52,109)

     

At 31 December 2023 
and 1 January 2024

 
 

38,055 12,303 50,358
Additions 1,500 – 1,500
Disposals (13,856) – (13,856)

     

At 31 December 2024  
25,699 12,303 38,002

     

Accumulated  
amortisation:

累計攤銷：

At 1 January 2023 56,245 2,834 59,079
Charge for the year 4,935 358 5,293
Written back on  

disposals (43,112) – (43,112)
     

At 31 December 2023 
and 1 January 2024

 
 

18,068 3,192 21,260
Charge for the year 3,427 367 3,794
Written back on  

disposals (11,571) – (11,571)

At 31 December 2024  
9,924 3,559 13,483

     

Net book value: 賬面淨值：

At 31 December 2024  
15,775 8,744 24,519

     

At 31 December 2023  
19,987 9,111 29,098

     

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other intangible 
assets include golf and yacht club memberships 
with aggregate amount of RMB6,813,000. The 
group considers that the useful lives of above 
memberships are infinite.

12 

6,813,000
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The group considers that there is no impairment 
indication of the intangible assets with infinite useful 
lives, as the fair value of such assets exceeded 
their carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and  
31 December 2023.

The amortisation charge of intangible assets for 
the year is included in “administrative and other 
operating expenses”, “selling and distribution 
expenses” and “cost of sales” in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

13 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
Particulars of the associate which is an unlisted 
domestic enterprise incorporated and with business 
in the PRC whose quoted market price is not 
available:

Proportion of ownership interest
擁有權權益比例

 

Name of associate

Particulars of
issued and paid

up capital

Group’s
effective
interest

Held by the 
Company

Held by a 
subsidiary Principal activity

聯營公司名稱
已發行及已
繳足資本詳情

本集團的
實際權益 本公司所持有

附屬
公司所持有 主要活動

Guangzhou Huazhi Investments Co., Ltd.  
(“Huazhi Investments”)*

RMB100,000,000 33% – 33% Properties construction
100,000,000

華智投資 *
      

* The English translation of the Company name is for 

reference only. The official name of the Company is in 

Chinese.

The associate is accounted for using the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements. 
Summarised financial information of the associate, 
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, 
and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed 
below:

12 

13 

* 
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13 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Gross amounts of the associate
Current assets 149,144 148,819
Non-current assets 420,543 433,283
Current liabilities (273,502) (263,977)
Non-current liabilities (240,900) (233,000)
Equity 55,285 85,125

    

Revenue 12,141 12,821
Loss for the year (29,839) (16,749)
Total comprehensive loss (29,839) (16,749)

    

Reconciled to the group’s  
interests in the associate

 

Gross amounts of net assets  
of the associate 55,285 85,125

Group’s effective interest 33% 33%
Group’s share of net assets  

of the associate
 

18,244 28,091
Goodwill 10,932 10,932
Accumulated impairment loss  

on goodwill (iii)
 (iii)

(8,774) (7,098)
    

Carrying amount in the  
consolidated financial  
statements 20,402 31,925

Loans to an associate (i)  
(i) 75,311 32,757

Other assets (ii) (ii) – 40,151
    

95,713 104,833
    

13 
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13 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Note: (i) Loans to an associate are unsecured and 

interest bearing at an interest rate ranging from 

5.66% to 8%. The loans will be due in 2025 to 

2028.

Besides, The group provided a guarantee to a 

bank in the PRC, which lent a long-term loan to 

Huazhi Investments maturing in 2034, that the 

group will not demand repayment of the loans 

receivables and related interests from Huazhi 

Investments until Huazhi Investments has fully 

repaid its loans due to that bank. The carrying 

amount of above loans to an associate are 

measured at amortised cost.

(ii) In addition, the group and Huazhi Investments 

agreed to settle part of the loans as purchase 

considerations payable by the group if the 

group decides to acquire an office premises 

located in Guangzhou City held by Huazhi 

Investments. The selling price of the property 

will be determined with reference to 95% of a 

valuation provided by an independent appraiser. 

Accord ing to the agreement,  the group 

has discretion to acquire the property upon 

completion or demand a full repayment of the 

outstanding balance of the loan with the interest 

due from Huazhi Investments. In December 

2024, the group decided not to proceed with 

the acquisition and entered into a supplementary 

agreement with Huazhi Investments. Pursuant 

to the supplementary agreement, the group 

demands full repayment of the outstanding loan 

with accrued interests at the maturity date. The 

carrying amount of above loan is measured at 

amortised cost.

(iii) For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

group assessed the recoverable amounts of the 

interest in Huazhi Investments at 31 December 

2024 and as a result the carrying amount of the 

interest in Huazhi Investments was written down 

to the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 

of RMB8,774,000 (2023: RMB7,098,000) was 

recognised in “Accumulated impairment loss of 

goodwill of an associate”.

13 
 (i) 

5.66% 8%

(ii) 

95%      

(iii) 

8,774,000

7,098,000
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14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only the particulars of 
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, 
assets or liabilities of the group. The class of shares 
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Proportion of ownership interest
擁有權權益比例

 

Name of company

Place of
incorporation
and business

Particulars of
issued and

paid up capital

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held by the 
Company

Held by the 
subsidiaries Principal activities

公司名稱
註冊成立及
營業地點

已發行及
繳足資本詳情

本集團的
實際權益

本公司
所持有

附屬公司
所持有 主要活動

Cabbeen Clothing China  
Co., Ltd.* (i) 
(“Cabbeen China”)

PRC HK$260,000,000 100% – 100% Wholesale of apparel
260,000,000

* i  
卡賓中國

Guangzhou Cabbeen Clothing  
Co., Ltd.* (i)

PRC HK$20,000,000 100% – 100% Wholesale of apparel
20,000,000

* i

Quanzhou Mijie Electronic  
Commerce Co., Ltd.*

PRC Nil 100% – 100% Wholesale of apparel

*

Guangzhou Zixi Enterprise  
Management Co., Ltd. * (i)

PRC HK$250,000,000 100% – 100% Trademark holding and  
retail of apparel250,000,000

* i

Guangzhou Cabbeen Clothing 
Trading Co., Ltd.*

PRC RMB60,000,000 100% – 100% Online sales of apparel
60,000,000

*

Guangzhou Huazhi  
Development Co., Ltd.*

PRC RMB65,000,000 96.27% – 96.27% Real estate development
65,000,000

*

Shishi City Junyuan Development 
Co., Ltd.*

PRC RMB6,616,885 100% – 100% Properties holding
6,616,885

*

Shishi City Yijin Electronic  
Commerce Co,.Ltd (ii)

PRC RMB2,000,000 25% – 25% Online sales of apparel
2,000,000

*(ii)

Notes: (i) The subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned 

enterprises in the PRC.

 (ii) In accordance with the article of association, 

Cabbeen China has control over Shishi City Yijin 

Electronic Commerce Co,.Ltd, who as a result, 

is consolidated in the financial statements of the 

company as a subsidiary.

* The English translation of the companies’ names is for 

reference only. The official names of these companies 

are in Chinese.

14 

 (i) 

 (ii) 

* 
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15 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 
represents:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

PRC Corporate Income Tax 43,862 28,140
Hong Kong Profits Tax 5,099 2,679

    

48,961 30,819
    

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of 

deferred tax assets and liabilities
The components of deferred tax 
assets/(liabilities) recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial 
position and the movements during 
the year are as follows:

Deferred tax arising from:
Inventory
provision

Allowances 
for doubtful 

debts
Accrued

expenses
Unrealised

profits Tax losses
Lease 

liabilities
Right-of-

use assets Total
以下各項所產生遞延稅項： 存貨撥備 呆賬撥備 應計開支 未變現溢利 稅務虧損 租賃負債 使用權資產 總計

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 20,023 27,000 27,006 5,011 3,254 9,268 (8,281) 83,281

(Debited)/credited to profit  
or loss (note 6(a))

 
6(a) (2,255) 3,524 7,422 (3,688) 1,732 (2,707) 2,626 6,654

          

At 31 December 2023  
17,768 30,524 34,428 1,323 4,986 6,561 (5,655) 89,935

          

At 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024

 
 

17,768 30,524 34,428 1,323 4,986 6,561 (5,655) 89,935

(Debited)/credited to profit  
or loss (note 6(a))

 
6(a) (5,681) 11,229 5,444 (118) 1,608 (3,183) 2,835 12,134

          

At 31 December 2024  
12,087 41,753 39,872 1,205 6,594 3,378 (2,820) 102,069

          

15  

(a) 

(b) 

(i) 
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15 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
recognised: (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated 
statement of financial position

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Net deferred tax asset  
recognised in the  
consolidated statement  
of financial position

 
 

102,069 89,935
    

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
The group did not recognise deferred tax 
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses 
of certain subsidiaries and mainly generated 
f rom PRC subs id ia r i es  amounted  to 
RMB33,001,000 (2023: RMB39,329,000), 
which will expire in five years under the 
current tax legislation. The tax effect on 
such tax losses has not been recognised as 
it is not probable that future taxable profits 
against which the losses can be utilised will 
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and 
entity.

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC 
dividend withholding tax relating to certain 
undistributed profits of the company’s PRC 
subsidiaries were not recognised as the 
company controls the dividend policy of 
these subsidiaries. Based on the assessment 
made by management as at the end of each 
reporting period, it was determined that the 
undistributed profits of RMB935,007,000 
(2023: RMB896,524,000) of the company’s 
PRC subsidiaries would not be distributed in 
the foreseeable future.

15 
 

(b) 

(ii) 

(c) 

33,001,000
39,329,000

(d) 

935,007,000
896,524,000
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16 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated 
statement of financial position  
comprise:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Raw materials 8,602 11,471
Work in progress 10,877 3,622
Finished goods 266,796 278,685

    

286,275 293,778
    

(b) The analysis of the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense 
and included in profit or loss is as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Carrying amount of  
inventory sold

– apparel and accessories – 572,694 677,018
    

Inventories write-down
– apparel and accessories – 43,138 62,343

    

615,832 739,361
    

16 

(a) 

(b) 
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Trade receivables 840,199 765,574
Less: Loss allowance (167,014) (117,359)

    

Trade receivables, net of loss 
allowance

 
673,185 648,215

Bank acceptance bills – 69,270
    

Trade and bills receivables 673,185 717,485
Prepayments to suppliers 31,945 51,814
Other deposits, prepayments 

and receivables
 

40,549 41,962
Less: Loss allowance – (4,736)

    

745,679 806,525
    

All of the current trade and other receivables 
are expected to be recovered or recognised 
as expense within one year, except for certain 
deposits amounted to RMB5,898,000 (2023: 
RMB5,540,000).

The group accepts bank acceptance bills from 
major banks in the PRC for settlement of trade 
debts. The group considers that the credit risk 
associated with bank acceptance bills issued by 
major banks in the PRC to be insignificant.

17 

5,898,000
5,540,000
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the group had transferred 
bank acceptance bills totalling RMB84,110,000 
(2023:  RMB104,020,000) ,  which were not 
qualified to derecognise as financial assets, as the 
transferees have recourse right to the group in case 
of default by issuing banks. In such cases, the group 
would have to repurchase these bank acceptance 
bill at face value. These bank acceptance bills 
mature six months from respective dates of issue 
and the group’s maximum loss in case of default are 
RMB84,110,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 
RMB104,020,000).

(a) Ageing analysis
Ageing analysis of trade receivables based on 
invoice date and net of loss allowance as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within 3 months 225,802 205,529
More than 3 months but  

within 6 months 69,481 94,982
More than 6 months but  

within 1 year 168,350 224,078
More than 1 year 209,552 123,626

    

673,185 648,215
    

Trade receivables are generally due within 
180 - 270 days from the date of billing.

Further details on the group’s credit policy 
and credit risk arising from trade debtors 
receivables are set out in note 26(a).

17 

84,110,000  
104,020,000

84,110,000
104,020,000

(a) 

180 270

26(a)
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables
The movement in the loss allowance account 
for trade receivables during the year is as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

At 1 January 117,359 98,832
Impairment loss  

recognised 49,655 18,527
    

At 31 December 167,014 117,359
    

18 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
Bank deposits have been pledged mainly as security 
for bills payable (note 21) and banking facilities (note 
20). The pledged bank deposits will be released 
upon the settlement of relevant bills payable and 
expiration of banking facilities.

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Cash at bank and on hand 227,613 186,286
Other deposit 11,197 13,979

    

Cash and cash equivalents in 
the consolidated statement 
of financial position and 
consolidated cash flow 
statement

 
 

238,810 200,265
    

At 31 December 2024, cash and cash 
equivalents placed with banks in Mainland 
China amounted to RMB223,400,000 (2023: 
RMB183,547,000). Remittance of funds out 
of Mainland China is subject to the relevant 
rules and regulations of foreign exchange 
control promulgated by the PRC government.

17 

(b) 

18 

21 20

19 

(a) 

223,400,000
183,547,000
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation 
to cash generated from operations:

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Profit before taxation 66,666 64,514

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 5(c) 64,977 62,827
Amortisation of  

intangible assets 5(c) 3,794 5,293
Share of loss of  

an associate
 

9,847 5,527
Impairment loss of goodwill 

of an associate 5(c) 1,676 7,098
Finance costs 5(a) 13,070 18,652
Net foreign exchange gain (627) (1,431)
Interest income 4 (11,028) (11,226)
Net loss on disposal  

of property, plant  
and equipment  
and other  
non-current assets

 
 

 

2,423 8,688
Equity settled share-based  

payment expenses
 

5(b) 368 282
Changes in working capital:

Decrease in inventories 7,503 87,797
Decrease/(increase) in trade 

and other receivables
 

59,928 (84,111)
Decrease in trade  

and other payables
 

(30,958) (25,755)
     

Cash generated from 
operations 187,639 138,155

     

19 

(b) 
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities
The table below details changes in the 
group’s liabilities from financing activities, 
including both cash and non-cash changes. 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are 
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the group’s 
consolidated cash flow statement as cash 
flows from financing activities.

Bank loans 
and other 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities
Interests 
payable

Dividends 
payable Total

銀行貸款及
其他借款 租賃負債 應付利息 應付股息 總計

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

At 1 January 2024 336,638 32,837 – – 369,475

Changes from financing cash flows: 融資現金流量之變動：
Proceeds from new bank loans 409,193 – – – 409,193
Repayment of bank loans (520,228) – – – (520,228)
Capital element of lease rentals paid – (17,088) – – (17,088)
Interest element of lease rentals paid – (1,180) – – (1,180)
Interests paid – – (11,890) – (11,890)
Dividends paid – – – (18,233) (18,233)
       

Total changes from financing  cash flows (111,035) (18,268) (11,890) (18,233) (159,426)
       

Other changes: 其他變動：
Interest expense – 1,180 11,890 – 13,070
Addition on dividends payable – – – 18,233 18,233
       

Total other changes 其他變動總額 – 1,180 11,890 18,233 31,303
       

At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日 225,603 15,749 – – 241,352
       

19 

(c)  
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities (Continued)

Bank loans 
and other 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities
Interests 
payable

Dividends 
payable Total

銀行貸款及
其他借款 租賃負債 應付利息 應付股息 總計

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

At 1 January 2023 270,218 46,948 18 – 317,184

Changes from financing cash flows: 融資現金流量之變動：
Proceeds from new bank loans 336,638 – – – 336,638
Repayment of bank loans (270,218) – – – (270,218)
Capital element of lease rentals paid – (15,810) – – (15,810)
Interest element of lease rentals paid – (1,953) – – (1,953)
Interests paid – – (16,717) – (16,717)
Dividends paid – – – (19,327) (19,327)
       

Total changes from financing  cash flows 66,420 (17,763) (16,717) (19,327) 12,613
       

Other changes: 其他變動：
Interest expense – 1,953 16,699 – 18,652
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  

into new leases during the period
 

– 1,699 – – 1,699
Addition on dividends payable – – – 19,327 19,327
       

Total other changes 其他變動總額 – 3,652 16,699 19,327 39,678
       

At 31 December 2023 於二零二三年十二月三十一日 336,638 32,837 – – 369,475
       

19 

(c) 
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement 
for leases comprise the following:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within operating cash flows (2,104) (1,591)
Within financing cash flows (18,268) (17,763)

    

(20,372) (19,354)
    

These amounts relate to the following:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Lease rentals paid (20,372) (19,354)
    

(20,372) (19,354)
    

19 

(d) 
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20 BANK BORROWINGS

(a) The analysis of the repayment schedule 
of bank loans is as follows:

At 31 December
於十二月三十一日

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within 1 year or on demand 218,603 336,638
After 1 year but within 2 years 7,000 –

    

225,603 336,638
    

(b) Assets pledged as security and 
covenants for bank borrowings
At 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings 
were secured as follows:

At 31 December
於十二月三十一日

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Unsecured bank borrowings 
denominated in Renminbi

 
– 5,367

Unsecured bank borrowings 
denominated in Hong Kong 
Dollar

 

– 141,035
Secured bank loans 

denominated in Renminbi
 

225,603 190,236
    

225,603 336,638
    

20 

(a) 

(b) 
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20 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 31 
December 2023 were carried at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2024, secured bank loans 
o f  RMB225,603,000 (31 December  2023: 
RMB190,236,000) of which RMB7,000,000 were 
repayable over one year (31 December 2023: Nil) 
were secured by pledged bank deposits (see note 
18) and land use rights and certain properties of the 
group (see note 10 and 11).

As at 31 December 2024, banking facilities of the 
group were amounted to RMB476,884,000 (31 
December 2023: RMB638,881,000), of which 
facilities amounted to RMB310,083,000 were 
utilised (31 December 2023: RMB482,965,000).

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

At 
31 December

2024

At
31 December

2023
於二零二四年
十二月三十一日

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Trade payables 90,180 103,614
Bills payable (note (a)) (a) 120,686 178,238

    

Trade and bills payables  
(note (b))

 
(b) 210,866 281,852

Refund liabilities:
– arising from rebates – 145,151 118,302
– arising from right of return – 1,963 450
Other payables and accruals 91,078 89,877

    

449,058 490,481
    

20 

225,603,000

190,236,000 7,000,000

18
10 11

476,884,000

638,881,000
310,083,000

482,965,000

21 
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

All of the trade and other payables are expected to 
be settled or recognised as income within one year 
or are repayable on demand.

(a) Bil ls payable as at 31 December 2024 
were secured by pledged bank deposits of 
RMB36,206,000 (2023: RMB66,010,000) 
(note 18) and land use rights and properties of 
RMB188,096,000 (2023: RMB187,702,000) 
(notes 10 and 11).

(b) An ageing analysis of the trade and bills 
payables based on the invoice date is as 
follows:

At 
31 December

2024

At
31 December

2023
於二零二四年
十二月三十一日

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within 3 months 143,554 177,160
More than 3 months but  

within 6 months 54,072 101,450
More than 6 months but  

within 1 year 5,841 1,001
More than 1 year 7,399 2,241

    

210,866 281,852
    

21 

(a) 

36,206,000
66,010,000 18
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22 LEASE LIABILITIES

At 
31 December

2024

At
31 December

2023
於二零二四年
十二月三十一日

Present 
value of the 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Present
value of the 

minimum 
lease 

payments
最低租賃
付款現值

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Within 1 year 11,064 17,012
    

After 1 year but within 2 years 4,685 11,059
After 2 years but within 5 years – 4,766

    

15,749 32,837
    

22 
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23 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans
The PRC subsidiaries of the group participate in 
defined contribution retirement benefit schemes (the 
“Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and 
provincial government authorities whereby the PRC 
subsidiaries are required to make contributions at 
the rate of 14% to 16% of the eligible employees’ 
salaries to the Schemes. The group has accrued for 
the required contributions which are remitted to the 
respective local government authorities when the 
contributions become due. The local government 
author i t ies are responsible for the pension 
obligations payable to the retired employees 
covered under the Schemes.

The group also operates a Mandatory Provident 
Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the 
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
Ordinance for employees employed under the 
jur isdict ion of  the Hong Kong Employment 
Ord inance.  The MPF scheme is  a  def ined 
contribution retirement plan administered by 
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, 
the employer and its employees are each required 
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the 
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap 
of monthly re levant income of HK$30,000. 
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

There is no forfeited contributions that may be 
used by the group to reduce the existing level of 
contribution.

The group has no other material obligation for 
the payment of pension benefits beyond the 
contributions described above.

23 
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24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Share-based Payment
A subsidiary of the company entered into 
an arrangement in January 2021 to acquire 
a trademark and to collaborate with the 
trademark seller and another independent 
third party to develop a business for sale and 
marketing of branded fashion apparels.

The arrangement included the issue of 41% 
shares in that subsidiary to the trademark 
seller and the independent third party at a 
nominal consideration of HK$41. In addition, 
the subsidiary has the rights to repurchase 
the 41% equity interest from trademark 
seller and the independent third party at 
a nominal consideration of HK$41 unless 
specific performance conditions are achieved 
by them. In August 2022, the independent 
third party withdrew from the fashion apparel 
business and confirmed that he forfeited all 
the rights under the share-based payment 
arrangement as mentioned above. As at 31 
December 2023 and 31 December 2024, 
the specific performance conditions were not 
met.

24  

(a) 

41%
41

41
41%



193

卡賓服 飾有限公司      2024年報

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) 

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Pre-IPO Employee Share Option Scheme 
(the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme) 

On 8 October 2013, the company granted 
options to subscribe for an aggregate 
of 8,520,000 shares of the company to 
its directors, employees and one of its 
distributors, under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme at an exercise price of HK$2.024, 
being 80% of the initial public offering price. 
No further option could be granted under 
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme after 8 
October 2013. Options granted had vesting 
periods of 1 to 3 years commencing from 28 
October 2013, being the date of the listing of 
the company on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange. Each option gives the holders the 
right to subscribe for one ordinary share in 
the company.

Pursuant to the rules of the share option 
scheme, options will lapse when the grantee 
ceases to be an employee of the group 
for reasons other than death, permanent 
d isab i l i t y ,  re t i rement  and t rans fer  o f 
employment to related parties, or terminates 
the business with the group. The Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme expired on 28 
October 2023 and there was no share option 
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme.

24 
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and 
closing balances of each component of the 
group’s consolidated equity is set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
Details of the changes in the company’s 
individual components of equity between the 
beginning and the end of the year are set out 
below:

Company
Share

capital
Share

premium

Capital
redemption

reserves
Capital

reserves
Exchange 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

本公司 股本 股份溢價
資本

贖回儲備 資本儲備 匯兌儲備 保留溢利 總計
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

          

Balance at 1 January 2023 於二零二三年 
一月一日的結餘 5,214 9,195 384 1,898 809 34,367 51,867

Changes in equity for 2023: 二零二三年的 
權益變動：

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 1,705 (4,599) (2,894)

Dividends declared 25(b) – – – – – (4,327) (4,327)
Transfer between reserves – – – (1,759) – 1,759 –

          

Balance at 31 December 2023 
and 1 January 2024

於二零二三年十二月 
三十一日及 
二零二四年 
一月一日的結餘 30 5,214 9,195 384 139 2,514 27,200 44,646

          

Changes in equity for 2024: 二零二四年的 
權益變動：

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 455 (4,063) (3,608)

Dividends declared 25(b) – – – – – (9,968) (9,968)
          

Balance at 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月 
三十一日的結餘 30 5,214 9,195 384 139 2,969 13,169 31,070

          

25 
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(b) Dividends
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders 

of the company attributable to the year

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Interim dividend declared  
and paid of HK$0.93 cent 
per ordinary share  
(2023: HK$0.7 cent per 
ordinary share)

 
 
 

0.93  
 

 
0.7 5,658 4,327

Final dividend proposed  
after year end of  
2024, HK0.86 cent per  
ordinary share  
(2023: HK$0.7 cent per 
ordinary share)

 
 

 
0.86  

0.7 5,278 4,310
    

10,936 8,637
    

The final dividend proposed after the 
end of the reporting period had not 
been recognised as a liability at the 
end of the reporting period.

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(b) Dividends (Continued)

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders 
of the company attributable to the 
previous financial year, approved and 
paid during the year

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Final dividend in respect of 
the previous financial year, 
approved and paid 
the year, of HK$0.7 cents 
per ordinary share

 
 

 
0.7

4,310 –
    

(c) Share capital
(i) Authorised and issued share capital

2024 2023
二零二四年

No. of shares HK$’000 RMB’000 No. of shares HK$’000 RMB’000
股份數目 千港元 人民幣千元

Authorised: 法定：
Ordinary shares of 

HK$0.01 each
0.01  

10,000,000,000 100,000 79,208 10,000,000,000 100,000 79,208
        

Ordinary shares, issued 
and fully paid:

已發行繳足普通股：

At 1 January and  
31 December

 
668,593,000 6,686 5,214 668,593,000 6,686 5,214

        

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Authorised and issued share capital 
(Continued)

The equity shareholders are entitled 
to receive dividends as declared from 
time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the 
company. All ordinary shares rank 
equally with regard to the company’s 
residual assets.

(ii) Shares issued under share option 
scheme
There was no share options granted 
or exercised during the year ended  
31 December 2024 and 31 December 
2023.

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands, the funds in the 
company’s share premium account 
are distributable to the shareholders 
provided that immediately following 
the date on which the dividend is 
proposed to be d ist r ibuted, the 
company will be in a position to pay off 
its debts as they fall due in the course 
of business.

(ii) Capital reserve
The capital reserve comprises the 
following:

(i) T h e  e x c e s s  o f  n e t  a s s e t 
value of subsidiaries acquired 
over the nominal amount of 
shares issued upon the group 
reorganisat ion in 2009 and 
2012.

(ii) The portion of the grant date 
fair value of unexercised share 
options granted that has been 
recognised in accordance with 
the accounting policy adopted 
for the share-based payments in 
note 1(s)(ii).

(iii) T h e  e x c e s s  o f  p u r c h a s e 
consideration over carrying 
value of non-controlling interest 
in a subsidiary acquired in 2020. 

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves  
(Continued)

(iii) Capital redemption reserve
Capital redemption reserve represents 
the nominal amount of the shares 
repurchased.

(iv) Statutory reserve
As stipulated by regulations in the 
PRC, the company’s subsidiaries 
establ ished and operated in the 
Main land Ch ina are  requ i red to 
appropriate 10% of their after-tax-
profit (after offsetting prior year losses) 
as determined in accordance with the 
PRC accounting rules and regulations, 
to the statutory surplus reserve until 
the reserve balance reaches 50% of 
the registered capital. The transfer 
to this reserve must be made before 
d is t r ibut ion of  prof i ts  to  parent 
companies.

The statutory reserve can be utilised, 
upon  app rova l  by  the  re l evan t 
authorities, to offset accumulated 
losses or to increase capital of the 
subsidiary, provided that the balance 
after such issue is not less than 25% 
of its registered capital.

(v) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all 
foreign exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the financial 
statements of operations outside 
Mainland China which are dealt with 
in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in note 1(w).

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves  
(Continued)

(vi) Distributability of reserves
At 31 December 2024, the aggregate 
amount of reserves avai lable for 
distribution to equity shareholders of 
the company was RMB25,472,000 
(2023: RMB39,048,000). The directors 
recommend a  payment  o f  f i na l 
dividend of HK$0.86 cent per ordinary 
share for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (note 25(b)).

(e) Capital management
The group’s pr imary object ives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can continue to provide returns for 
its equity shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders, by pricing products 
commensurately with the level of risk and by 
securing access to finance at a reasonable 
cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and 
manages its capital structure to maintain 
a balance between the higher shareholder 
returns that might be possible with higher 
levels of borrowings and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position, 
and makes adjustments to the capital 
structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions.

25  
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 
(Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The group monitors its capital structure with 
reference to its debt position. The group’s 
strategy which is unchanged from 2023, is to 
maintain the equity and debt in a balanced 
position and ensure there are adequate 
working capital to service its debt obligations. 
The group’s debt to asset ratio, being the 
group’s total liabilities over its total assets, at 
31 December 2024 was 36% (2023: 40%).

The group’s adjusted net debt-to-assets 
ratio at the end of the current and previous 
reporting periods were as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

二零二四年
十二月三十一日

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Current liabilities 737,512 876,690

Non-current liabilities 11,685 15,825

Current assets 1,546,448 1,617,154

Non-current assets 547,204 609,120

Debt to asset ratio 36% 40%
    

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries 
are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

25  
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and 
currency risks arises in the normal course of the 
group’s business. The group’s exposure to these 
risks and the financial risk management policies and 
practices used by the group to manage these risks 
are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty 
will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in a financial loss to the group. The 
group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to 
trade receivables, deposits with banks and 
loans to an associate. Management has 
a credit policy in place and the exposures 
to these credit risks are monitored on an 
ongoing basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each 
financial asset in the consolidated statement 
of financial position after deducting any 
impairment allowance. As at 31 December 
2024, the group does not provide any 
guarantees which would expose the group to 
credit risk (31 December 2023: nil).

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables
Credit evaluations are performed on 
customers requiring credit terms. These 
evaluations focus on the customer’s 
history of making payments and current 
abilities to pay and take into account 
information specific to the customer as 
well as to the economic environment.

The group’s exposure to credit risk 
is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer and 
therefore significant concentrations 
of credit risk primarily arise when the 
group has significant exposure to 
individual customers. At the end of the 
reporting period, 23% (2023: 14%), 
10% (2023: 9%) and 54% (2023: 46%) 
of the total trade receivables was due 
from the group’s largest customer, the 
second largest customer and the five 
largest customers respectively.

The group measures loss allowances 
for trade receivables at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs. The following 
tables provide information about the 
group’s exposure to credit risk and loss 
allowance for trade receivables as at 
31 December 2024 and 31 December 
2023.

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024
Gross carrying 

amount
Loss 

allowance
Expected 
loss rate Net balance

於二零二四年十二月三十一日 賬面總值 虧損撥備 預期虧損率 凈結餘
RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 % 人民幣千元

 Trade receivables for which  
the loss allowance is  
measured using a provision 
matrix 751,805 144,048 19.16% 607,757

Trade receivables for which  
the loss allowance is measured  
on an individual basis 88,394 22,966 25.98% 65,428

      

840,199 167,014 673,185
      

As at 31 December 2023  

 Trade receivables for which  
the loss allowance is  
measured using a provision 
matrix 658,422 87,143 13.24% 571,279

Trade receivables for which  
the loss allowance is measured  
on an individual basis 107,152 30,216 28.20% 76,936

      

765,574 117,359 648,215
      

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

When a provision matrix is used to 
measure the loss allowance, the group 
did not distinguish between its different 
customer bases, because the group’s 
historical credit loss experience does 
not indicate signif icantly different 
loss patterns for different customer 
segments. The following table provides 
information about ECL allowances that 
are calculated using a provision matrix.

As at 31 December 2024
Gross carrying 

amount Loss allowance
Expected 
loss rate Net balance

於二零二四年十二月三十一日 賬面總值 虧損撥備 預期虧損率 凈結餘
RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 % 人民幣千元

Current (not past due) ( ) 345,666 44,694 12.93% 300,972
1 - 90 days past due 1 90 128,856 20,612 16.00% 108,244
91 - 180 days past due 91 180 124,410 22,493 18.08% 101,917
181 - 270 days past due 181 270 72,419 15,649 21.61% 56,770
271 - 365 days past due 271 365 59,809 19,955 33.36% 39,854
Over 1 year past due 20,645 20,645 100.00% –

      

751,805 144,048 607,757
      

As at 31 December 2023 Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance Expected 
loss rate

Net balance

RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000
%

Current (not past due) ( ) 351,808 30,436 8.65% 321,372
1 - 90 days past due 1 90 157,594 16,832 10.68% 140,762
91 - 180 days past due 91 180 83,930 13,576 16.18% 70,354
181 - 270 days past due 181 270 35,437 8,307 23.44% 27,130
271 - 365 days past due 271 365 21,038 9,377 44.57% 11,661 
Over 1 year past due 8,615 8,615 100.00% –

      

658,422 87,143 571,279
      

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The group made ind iv idua l  loss 
a l l o w a n c e  o f  R M B 2 2 , 9 6 6 , 0 0 0  
(31 December 2023: RMB30,216,000) 
on trade receivables due from two  
(31 December 2023: two)  of  i ts 
customers as at 31 December 2024. 
The indiv idual  loss a l lowance is 
measured based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows 
that are due and cash flows expected 
to be received.

The movement of the loss allowance 
account is set out in note 17.

(ii) Loans to an associate
As at 31 December 2024, the loans to 
an associate are disclosed in note 13.

(iii) Deposits with banks
The group’s mitigates its exposure to 
credit risk by placing deposits with 
financial institutions with established 
credit rating. Given the high credit 
ratings of the banks, management 
does not expect any counterparty to 
fail to meet its obligations.

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entit ies within the 
group are responsible for their own cash 
management, including the short-term 
investment of cash surpluses and the raising 
of loans to cover expected cash demands, 
subject to approval by the management and 
directors when the borrowings exceed certain 
predetermined levels of authority.

The group’s policy is to regularly monitor its 
liquidity requirements and its compliance 
with lending covenants, if any, to ensure that 
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and 
adequate committed lines of funding from 
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity 
requirements in the short and longer term.

All non-interest bearing financial liabilities 
and discounted bills of the group are carried 
at amount not materially different from their 
contractual undiscounted cash flow as all the 
financial liabilities are with maturities within 
one year or repayable on demand at the end 
of the reporting period.

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual undiscounted cash flow and 
carrying amount of financial liabilities as at 
the end of the reporting period are set out as 
follows:

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

合約未貼現現金流量

31 December 2024
Carrying
amount Total

Within
1 year or on

demand

More than
1 year but
less than

2 year

More than
2 year but
less than

5 years

二零二四年十二月三十一日 賬面值 總計
一年內或
應要求

一年以上
兩年以內

兩年以上
五年以內

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

Bank borrowings 225,603 234,538 227,261 7,277 –

Trade and bills payables  
210,866 210,866 210,866 – –

Other payables  
and accruals

 
91,078 91,078 91,078 – –

Lease liabilities 15,749 16,320 11,508 4,812 –
       

543,296 552,802 540,713 12,089 –
       

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

31 December 2023
Carrying
amount Total

Within
1 year or on

demand

More than
1 year but
less than

2 year

More than
2 year but
less than

5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank borrowings 336,638 340,531 340,531 – –

Trade and bills payables  
281,852 281,852 281,852 – –

Other payables  
and accruals

 
89,877 89,877 89,877 – –

Lease liabilities 32,837 34,587 18,267 11,508 4,812
       

741,204 746,847 730,527 11,508 4,812
       

(c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The group’s borrowings and 
lease liabilities issued at variable and fixed 
interest rates expose the group to cash flow 
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate 
risk, respectively.

At 31 December 2024, al l  borrowings 
and lease liabilities were carried at fixed 
interest rates (31 December 2023: with 
RMB141,035,000 borrowing were carried at 
variable interest rate).

26 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a 
general increase/decrease of 1% in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, 
would have decreased/increased the group’s 
profit after tax for the year and retained profits 
by RMBNil (2023: RMB1,178,000). Other 
components of equity would not be affected 
by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the 
instantaneous change in the group’s profit/
loss after tax (and retained profits) and other 
components of consolidated equity that 
would arise assuming that the change in 
interest rates had occurred at the end of the 
reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held 
by the group which expose the group to 
fair value interest rate risk at the end of the 
reporting period. In respect of the exposure 
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from 
floating rate non-derivative instruments held 
by the group at the end of the reporting 
period, the impact on the group’s profit/
loss after tax (and retained profits) and 
other components of consolidated equity 
is estimated as an annualised impact on 
interest expense of such a change in interest 
rates. The analysis is performed on the same 
basis as 2023.

26 
 

(c) 

1%

1,178,000
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk
The group is exposed to currency risk 
primarily through bank borrowing, which give 
rise to loan balance that are denominated 
in Hong Kong Dol lar.  Except for that, 
individual companies within the group have 
limited foreign currency risk as most of the 
transactions are denominated in the same 
currency as the functional currency of the 
operation in which they relate. The group’s 
functional currency is RMB as all the turnover 
are within the PRC. With the natural hedging 
of the revenue and costs being denominated 
in RMB, the group’s transactional foreign 
exchange exposure was insignificant.

The group’s major exposure as at 31 
December 2024 to currency risk arising from 
bank borrowing balance is RMBNil (2023: 
RMB141,035,000) denominated in Hong 
Kong Dollar which is other than the functional 
currency of the group.

26 
 

(d) 

141,035,000
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(e) Fair value
(i) Financial assets and liabilities 

measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the group’s financial 
instruments were measured at the end 
of the reporting period on a recurring 
basis, categorised into the three-level 
fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 
13, Fair value measurement. The level 
into which a fair value measurement is 
classified is determined with reference 
to the observability and significance 
of the inputs used in the valuation 
technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value 
measured using only Level 1 
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date.

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value 
measured using Level 2 inputs 
i.e. observable inputs which fail 
to meet Level 1, and not using 
significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs 
for which market data are not 
available.

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value 
measured using s igni f icant 
unobservable inputs.

26 
 

(e) 
(i) 

13

• 

• 

• 
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(e) Fair value (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 
December 2023, the group has no 
financial asset and liabilities measured 
at fair value.

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities carried at other than fair 
value
The carrying amounts of the group’s 
f inanc ia l  inst ruments car r ied at 
amortised cost were not materially 
different from their fair values as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

27 COMMITMENTS
N o  c a p i t a l  c o m m i t m e n t s  o u t s t a n d i n g  a t  
31 December 2024 and 2023 not provided for in 
the financial statements.

In addition, the group was not committed to enter 
into any long-term lease that is not yet commenced 
at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

26 
 

(e) 
(i) 

(ii) 

27 
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28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party information disclosed 
elsewhere in the financial statements, the group 
entered into the following material related party 
transactions.

(a) Transactions with a related party
(i) The detail of loans receivable from 

Huazhi Investments are disclosed in 
note 13(ii).

(ii) The group leased properties from 
Huazhi Investments as office premises 
in December 2021 for three years. 
The lease term was subsequently 
extended to five years. The balances of 
the respective right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities were RMB7,500,000 
and RMB9,200,000 as at 31 December 
2024 (2023:  the ba lance of  the 
respective right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities were RMB11,200,000 and 
RMB13,430,000).

None of the above related party transactions 
fal ls under the definit ion of connected 
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

(b) Balances with a related party
The group lent loans to Huazhi Investments, 
as at 31 December 2024, the balances of the 
respective amounts were RMB75,311,000 as 
mentioned in note 13.

28 

(a) 
(i) 

13(ii)

(ii) 

7,500,000
9,200,000

11,200,000
13,430,000

14A

(b) 

75,311,000
13
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28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(c) Key management personnel 
compensation
Remuneration for key management personnel 
of the group, including amounts paid to the 
company’s directors as disclosed in note 7 
and certain of the highest paid employees as 
disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年

RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Short-term employee  
benefits 4,286 4,717

Contributions to retirement  
benefit scheme 97 116

    

4,383 4,833
    

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” 
(note 5(b)).

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the 
judgements and other uncertainties affecting 
application of those policies and the sensitivity 
of reported results to changes in condition and 
assumptions are factors to be considered when 
reviewing the financial statements. The principal 
accounting policies are set forth in note 1. The 
group believes the following critical accounting 
policies involve the most significant judgements and 
estimates used in the preparation of the financial 
statements.

28  

(c)  

7
8

5(b)

1
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29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

(a) Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the 
estimated sel l ing price in the ordinary 
course of business less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs 
necessa r y  to  make  the  sa l e .  These 
estimates are based on the current market 
conditions and the historical experience of 
selling products with similar nature. It could 
change significantly as a result of change in 
customer preference and competitor actions 
in response to the industry situation. Any 
change in the assumptions would increase 
or decrease the amount of inventories write-
down or the related reversals of write-down 
made in prior years and affect the group’s net 
assets value. The group reassesses these 
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables
The group estimates the loss allowances for 
trade receivables by assessing the ECLs. 
This requires the use of estimates and 
judgements. ECLs are based on the group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
and an assessment of both the current and 
forecast general economic conditions at the 
end of reporting period. Where the estimation 
is different from the original estimate, such 
difference will affect the carrying amounts of 
trade receivables and thus the impairment 
loss in the period in which such estimate is 
changed. The group keeps assessing the 
expected credit loss of trade receivables 
during their expected lives.

29  

(a) 

(b) 
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30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

2024 2023
二零二四年

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
人民幣千元

Non-current asset 非流動資產

Investments in subsidiaries 14 14,065 14,065
     

Current assets 流動資產

Amounts due from subsidiaries 51,479 50,583
Other receivables 312 226
Cash and cash equivalents 129 55
     

51,920 50,864
     

Current liabilities 流動負債

Amounts due to subsidiaries 34,910 20,043
Other payables and accruals  

5 240
     

34,915 20,283
     

Net current assets 流動資產淨值 17,005 30,581
     

NET ASSETS 資產淨值 31,070 44,646
     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 資本及儲備 25(a)

Capitals 5,214 5,214
Reserves 25,856 39,432
     

NET ASSETS 資產淨值 31,070 44,646
     

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 7 March 2025.

 Dr. Ziming Yang Mr. Rongqin Ke
 楊紫明博士 柯榕欽先生
 Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director Executive Director
  

30 
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31 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
As at 31 December 2024, the directors consider the 
ultimate controlling party of the company to be Dr. 
Ziming Yang.

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, 
the IASB has issued a number of new or amended 
standards, which are not yet effective for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not 
been adopted in these financial statements. These 
developments include the following which may be 
relevant to the group.

Effective for 

accounting  

periods  

beginning on  

or after

於下列日期或之後 

開始的會計期間生效

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates – 

Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025

21  – 

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial 

instruments: disclosures – Amendments to the classification and 

measurement of financial instruments Annual improvements to IFRS 

Accounting Standards – Volume 11 1 January 2026

9 7  

 – IFRS  – 

11

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027

18

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

19
  

31 

32  
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32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (Continued)

The group is  in  the process of  making an 
assessment  o f  wha t  the  impac t  o f  these 
developments is expected to be in the period of 
initial application. So far it has concluded that the 
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

32  
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FIVE YEARS SUMMARY

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
二零二四年

Operating results (RMB’000) 經營業績（人民幣千元）
Revenue 1,035,008 1,188,648 1,185,049 1,372,662 1,288,422
Gross profit 462,314 511,630 506,994 628,837 608,465
Profit/(loss) from operations 89,583 88,693 (56,072) 255,300 292,844
Profit/(loss) before taxation 66,666 64,514 (80,395) 237,513 273,383
Net profit/(loss) for the year 28,893 27,403 (75,235) 168,641 195,041
EBITDA EBITDA 148,507 151,286 3,063 294,891 331,362
       

Assets and liabilities 
(RMB’000)

資產及負債 
（人民幣千元）

Non-current assets 547,204 609,120 659,574 575,858 476,354
Current assets 1,546,448 1,617,154 1,538,436 1,892,843 1,916,430
Current liabilities 737,512 876,690 840,046 1,015,673 797,794
Non-current liabilities 11,685 15,825 31,550 27,708 265,258
Net current assets 808,936 740,464 698,390 877,170 1,118,636
Total assets 2,093,652 2,226,274 2,198,010 2,468,701 2,392,784
Capital and reserves attributable 

to equity shareholders
 

1,335,660 1,318,545 1,303,072 1,411,989 1,321,635
       

Key financial indicators 關鍵財務指標
Gross profit margin 44.7% 43.0% 42.8% 45.8% 47.2%
Operating margin 8.7% 7.5% N/A 18.6% 22.7%
Net profit margin 2.8% 2.3% N/A 12.3% 15.1%
EBITDA ratio EBITDA 14.3% 12.7% 0.3% 21.5% 25.7%
Gearing ratio 16.8% 25.2% 20.4% 17.6% 26.5%
Earnings/(loss) per share 

(RMB cents)
每股盈利╱（虧損） 
（人民幣分）

-basic – 4.10 3.11 (12.73) 24.56 29.05
-diluted – 4.10 3.11 (12.73) 24.52 29.05

       

Dividend per share (HK cents) 每股股息（港仙） 1.79 1.4 1.0 11.9 12.9
       



REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The final results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee.

2025 AGM

The 2025 AGM will be held in Hong Kong on Thursday, 24 April 2025. Notice of the 2025 AGM will be 
issued and dispatched to shareholders of the Company in due course in accordance with the Listing Rules 
and the articles of association of the Company.

PUBLICATION OF RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT AND ANNUAL REPORT

The 2024 Annual Report will be dispatched to shareholders and published on the website of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website 
at www.ir.cabbeen.com in due course. This announcement can also be accessed on the above websites.

PUBLICATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 will 
be published on or before 24 March 2025 and will be available on the website of the Stock Exchange at  
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.ir.cabbeen.com.

 By Order of the Board
 Cabbeen Fashion Limited
 Dr. Ziming Yang
 Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2025

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors of the Company are Dr. Ziming YANG and  
Mr. Rongqin KE; and the independent non-executive Directors of the Company are Mr. Yung Kwok TSUI, 
Mr. Ming Shu LEUNG and Ms. Jing GU.




